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EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 

Halpern May Ybarra Gelberg LLP (“Halpern May”) was retained by the Board 
of Trustees (the “Board”) of the State Bar of California (the “State Bar” or the 
“Bar”) to conduct an independent, attorney-client privileged and confidential 
investigation into whether the State Bar’s handling of past discipline complaints 
against Thomas V. Girardi (“Girardi”) was affected by Girardi’s connections to or 
influence at the State Bar and identifying actions by anyone with ties to the State 
Bar that may constitute malfeasance in how discipline complaints against Girardi 
were handled.   Based upon our investigation, we find that the State Bar’s handling 
of past discipline complaints against Girardi was more likely than not affected by 
Girardi’s connections to and influence at the State Bar, and that there were multiple 
State Bar insiders who did not properly disclose their connections to Girardi, 
including employees who handled Girardi discipline cases. 

As set forth in detail in the following report, we found that Girardi maintained 
an extensive network of connections at all levels of the State Bar.  As one witness 
told us, “[i]t’s almost like Girardi became part of the fabric at the State Bar.”  Our 
investigation determined that Girardi cultivated contacts on the Board, in the 
Executive Director’s Office, and in the Office of Chief Trial Counsel (“OCTC”), 
both at the managerial and line prosecutor and investigator level.  Girardi’s ties to 
the State Bar spanned decades and appear to have been intentional.  We found 
evidence indicating that Girardi was involved in the appointment of at least one 
State Bar Court judge and the attempted appointment of a Chief Trial Counsel 
(“CTC”).  And we also found evidence that Girardi made offers of career assistance 
to people in State Bar leadership, apparently seeking to make additional connections 
when and where he could.  We have evidence—both documentary and 
testimonial—showing that at least nine former State Bar employees or Board 
members had connections to or accepted items of value, travel, or meals from 
Girardi while they were working at the State Bar or State Bar Court or were on the 
Board, although not all of these individuals were involved in the handling of cases 
against Girardi.  We did not find any connections between Girardi and any current 
State Bar employees, jurists, or Board members.   

As detailed below, Girardi’s relationship with former OCTC employee Thomas 
Layton was particularly remarkable.  Girardi is the godfather to Layton’s daughter 
and the two were close friends and had what was described by one witness as a 
“father-son” type relationship.  According to records from Girardi’s law firm, 
Girardi Keese, Layton, his wife, and a business entity they ran together received 
over $600,000 in payments from Girardi Keese while Layton was employed at the 
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State Bar.  Girardi Keese also leased Layton multiple cars over the years and gave 
Layton a firm credit card, which he used to pay for routine expenses.  Layton also 
received a large bank loan that Girardi guaranteed and for which Girardi Keese 
made repayments.  Girardi Keese also employed two of Layton’s children while 
Layton was employed at the State Bar.  Multiple people we interviewed reported 
that Girardi and Layton appeared to be together often, during meetings at Girardi 
Keese or over lunch at Morton’s and other restaurants.  Layton also appears to have 
facilitated Girardi’s relationships with others at the State Bar, ranging from line 
investigators to the CTC to Board members.  Even though we did not find evidence 
that Layton was assigned to or made discretionary decisions in any Girardi case, 
there is evidence suggesting that he assisted Girardi in disciplinary matters in other 
ways. 

As it relates to case handling, we find that two former OCTC employees—
Murray Greenberg and John Noonen—had conflicts-of-interest at the time they 
worked on Girardi cases as a result of their connections to Girardi.  The Girardi 
cases they worked on were closed without public discipline, some under 
questionable circumstances.  We conclude that these employees’ conflicts tainted 
the discretionary decisions they made on behalf of the State Bar and that the Girardi 
cases they worked on were improperly handled.   

Unlike with Layton, OCTC attorney Greenberg’s relationship with Girardi was 
not well known.  Greenberg spent three decades at the State Bar and was personally 
involved in the State Bar’s handling of multiple Girardi cases that were closed 
without any public discipline to Girardi, both directly and by providing training and 
supervision to other attorneys who worked on Girardi cases.  In addition to his 
involvement with Girardi cases, Greenberg intervened in and closed a case against 

 and used his personal email account to have apparent 
backchannel communications with a  attorney in another pending 
case.  Our investigation revealed that while he was in OCTC, Greenberg met with 
Girardi at Girardi Keese’s offices and attended parties and other social events hosted 
by Girardi, and he appears to have received concert tickets from Girardi.  There is 
no evidence that he disclosed these connections or benefits to the State Bar even as 
he was involved in the closure of cases against Girardi and  

.  In April 2019, just two months after Greenberg retired from the State 
Bar, he submitted a declaration on behalf of Girardi Keese related to the use of client 
funds, which included the statement, “[a]ll of their [Girardi Keese’s] conduct were 
[sic] in accord with the Rules of Professional Conduct of the State Bar and was 
totally appropriate.”   When we deposed Greenberg, he invoked his Fifth 
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Amendment right against self-incrimination and refused to answer any questions 
about his relationship with Girardi or work at the State Bar.   

Similarly, OCTC investigator Noonen handled and made discretionary decisions 
in two Girardi cases that benefited Girardi, while Noonen had conflicts-of-interest. 
Among other things, Noonen’s daughter had worked at Girardi Keese, and Girardi 
Keese had already handled a personal legal matter for him.  Both of the Girardi cases 
Noonen investigated were closed for insufficient evidence.  An auditor’s review of 
those cases found that neither was properly investigated. 

We found that over the years, many of Girardi’s relationships with State Bar 
insiders (and the gifts and other things of value exchanged inside of these 
relationships) were not appropriately disclosed by the State Bar insiders, as part of 
their conflicts-of-interest disclosures or otherwise.  Part of the reason for this failure 
is the State Bar’s historical lack of robust conflicts-of-interest policies and related 
policies regulating, for example, the receiving of gifts from attorneys.  Additionally, 
there appears to have been little to no formal training on conflicts issues for State 
Bar staff until recently, and many State Bar employees we interviewed expressed 
very little familiarity with conflicts-of-interest concepts. 

In addition to finding that cases against Girardi were closed by conflicted 
individuals, we also found that both the Executive Director’s Office and the Office 
of General Counsel received multiple reports of Girardi’s inappropriate connections 
at the State Bar that were not investigated.  We also found that former Executive 
Director, Joseph Dunn, terminated two senior attorneys in OCTC during the same 
time period when those attorneys were advocating for serious charges to be brought 
against Girardi in pending State Bar cases.  This was an unprecedented move, as the 
Executive Director’s Office is not supposed to interfere in the management or 
operations of OCTC.   

While investigating the handling of Girardi cases, we also discovered a troubling 
practice by the State Bar’s then leader, Deputy and Acting Executive Director 
Robert Hawley.  Pursuant to State Bar Rule 2201, whenever OCTC had a conflict-
of-interest it was supposed to refer out any discipline cases to an independent 
outside attorney to handle. We discovered that Hawley had been ghostwriting case 
analysis memorandums for conflict cases and passing them off as the work product 
of the independent conflict counsel, including on a Girardi case.  Although we did 
not find any evidence that Hawley recommended closure of the Girardi case based 
upon any connection he had to Girardi, Hawley’s actions completely undermined 
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the State Bai·'s conflict-of-interest procedures and call into question the handling of 
other conflict cases during Hawley's tenure. 

Additionally, we found evidence that on at least one occasion Girardi 
successfully deployed his connections to the State Bai· to discourage people from 
making State Bar complaints against him in the first instance, with Girardi 
indicating that any complaint made against him would go nowhere and be pointless. 
Indeed, Girardi was already prominent in the profession and well-connected 
politically by the 1990s. His stature in the community likely contributed to the 
perception that bringing any disciplinary charges against him would be an uphill 
battle that involved taking on one of the titans of the le al rofession. One case file 
in paiticular contains a notation regai·ding , and the rationale 
for closin another case included the unsu 

We also heard of mmors that Girardi could have executive leaders at the State Bar 
removed at his request, and reports that Girardi could facilitate or prevent judicial 
appointments. Whether or not ttue, these mmors are illustrative of the perceived 
extent of Girardi's enmeshment with State Bar matters or other matters imp01tant 
in the legal profession. 

The investigation and findings summai·ized here are set forth in detail in the 
accompanying report, which proceeds as follows. First, we provide a summary of 
our investigation, including the steps we took and the evidence we examined. Next, 
we provide inf01m ation about recent events involving Girai·di that provide context 
for our investigation and its findings. Third, we discuss conflict-of-interest policies 
applicable to the State Bai·, which ai·e discussed in more detail in Appendix B. 
Fomth, we discuss Girardi's connections to individuals at the State Bar, including 
at the Executive and Board level and in OCTC and the State Bar Court, and to the 
extent it could be determined, the impacts of those connections on the handling of 
State Bar cases. We also note the involvement of people with connections to Girardi 
in the handling of State Bar cases against attorney respondents other than Girai·di 
himself, where those respondents themselves had connections to Girardi. Finally, 
we identify additional issues with the handling of cases against Girardi that we 
discovered during the course of our investigation, and to the extent it could be 
determined, discuss the possible impacts of Girardi 's influence on those 
occun-ences. 
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INVESTIGATION SUMMARY 
 

The State Bar Board engaged Aaron May and the law firm of Halpern May to 
conduct an independent, attorney-client privileged and confidential investigation 
into whether the State Bar’s handling of past discipline complaints against Girardi 
was affected by Girardi’s connections to or influence at the State Bar.  Halpern May 
was empowered under the Business & Professions Code to issue subpoenas, take 
testimony of witnesses, and compel the production of documents.  As part of its 
investigation, we issued 23 subpoenas and interviewed, either voluntarily or under 
compulsion, 74 witnesses.  We also collected over 950,000 documents from a 
variety of sources.  We commend the State Bar and the Board for allowing us to 
conduct an independent investigation.  In particular, the State Bar has been 
cooperative in providing the materials we requested (where available), giving us 
access to employees, and supporting our efforts to compel recalcitrant witnesses to 
testify.   

  
The biggest challenge with the investigation was the passage of time and the 

corresponding unavailability of records and fading memories of witnesses.  The 
disciplinary complaints against Girardi span a 40-year time period and date back to 
at least 1984, before the advent of email.  Further, due to the State Bar’s document 
retention policies and IT constraints, there were significant limitations on what State 
Bar emails were preserved and available to our investigation.  While we were able 
to get access to some Girardi Keese emails, we understand that Girardi himself did 
not use email to communicate and instead relied upon in-person meetings and phone 
calls.  In addition, many witnesses could not recall events or details from decades 
back, which limited our ability to investigate the handling of older Girardi cases.  
Further, several witnesses to events relevant to our investigation are deceased.  

  
The other significant challenge to the investigation was the nature of the 

misconduct we were investigating—potential corruption and other illegal 
activities.  Often, those who engage in criminal activity do not memorialize their 
wrongdoing in writing or, if they do, they do not preserve it or provide it to 
investigators.  Further, experience shows that many perpetrators do not admit to 
their wrongdoing when questioned and will lie and/or minimize their 
involvement.  And, as was the case here with two individuals, when criminal 
conduct is involved, witnesses may refuse to answer questions about their conduct 
on Fifth Amendment grounds.  
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Despite these significant challenges, we investigated Girardi’s influence and 
connections to the State Bar and assessed his ability to corrupt the disciplinary 
process, as detailed below. 

Scope of Investigation 

We were tasked by the State Bar with investigating whether the State Bar’s 
handling of past discipline complaints against former licensee Girardi was affected 
by Girardi’s connections to or influence at the State Bar and identifying actions 
by anyone with ties to the State Bar that may constitute malfeasance in 
how discipline complaints against Girardi were handled. 

At the outset, it is important to understand what our investigation did and did not 
include.  As the State Bar previously reported, the State Bar opened 205 disciplinary 
matters about Girardi over a 40-year period involving allegations of trust accounting 
violations, theft, perjury, and other serious infractions.  It was only in 2021, after 
Girardi failed to contest a disciplinary complaint, that the State Bar meted out any 
public discipline against Girardi.   

In March 2021, the State Bar engaged Alyse Lazar as outside counsel to 
independently review the Girardi case files to “determine whether or not there is 
any information in any of the files showing that the handling of the case to the 
benefit of Girardi resulted from some type of personal or financial relationship with 
or benefit to any of the individuals who were involved in the case disposition, 
including outside special deputy trial counsel as well as State Bar employees.”1  As 

1 During Halpern May’s review of the case files, we discovered documents indicating that 
Lazar, while employed as an attorney for the State Bar, was briefly assigned to work on a 
Girardi case in 1995.  We found no indication she was involved with any decision-making 
regarding discipline for Girardi in that case.  In late 2011 and early 2012, Lazar served as 
an outside independent auditor for the State Bar and performed a review of a closed Girardi 
case as part of a random audit; she concluded the case had been incorrectly closed and 
advocated for it to be reopened.  In another case against Girardi, the State Bar provided 
Lazar’s contact information to the outside SDTC assigned to the case as a resource to 
answer procedural questions; during Halpern May’s interview with Lazar, she stated that 
the SDTC never contacted her to discuss the case. Based on documentary evidence, it 
appears that Lazar had a brief conversation with someone on the SDTC’s team on an issue 
that did not involve Girardi specifically.  Lazar informed us that she did not recall having 
been involved with any Girardi cases.  
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of January 2021, there were 130 Girardi cases.2  Lazar’s review was limited to the 
four corners of the case files she was given.  Lazar reported that she “found no 
documentation in any files to support a finding of improper influence by Girardi on 
either State Bar employees or outside examiners in the resolution of these 
cases.”  Our task was to pick up where Lazar left off to see if there was evidence 
outside the case files of Girardi’s improper influence in the handling of his 
disciplinary cases.  In Lazar’s report, she went through case-by-case and provided 
analysis of the resolution. We reviewed that report and requested case files where 
Lazar indicated questions or concerns about the resolution of a case, where the 
underlying complaint related to client trust account concerns, and where Lazar 
flagged that Girardi may have made misrepresentations to the State Bar.   

To be clear, our investigation did not include an assessment into whether Girardi 
actually misappropriated funds from his clients or committed any other ethical 
violations or criminal acts.  We also did not analyze whether State Bar disciplinary 
cases were correctly closed, but instead relied on Lazar’s analysis for those 
determinations.  Additionally, this investigation did not revisit the foci of the 2014 
Munger, Tolles & Olson LLP (“MTO”) investigation, described in further detail 
below, except to the extent that investigation revealed information concerning 
Girardi’s connections to the State Bar.  Finally, we were not asked to conduct a 
general root cause analysis to determine why the State Bar allowed Girardi to 
practice for so long without publicly disciplining him.  While our task of looking at 
Girardi’s influence at the State Bar gave us some insight into this issue, that was not 
the question we set out to answer.  

Documents Collected and Reviewed 

Through our investigation, we collected and reviewed the following materials: 

 State Bar Case Files.  As described above, we identified the case files to
review based on Lazar’s audit report.  We also requested other case files
where evidence was developed suggesting issues with a case’s handling.
Based upon witness interviews, it is our understanding that under State Bar
policy, all critical documents relating to the handling of a case are supposed
to be maintained in the case file.

2 Fifteen of the Girardi case files could not be located, so Lazar only reviewed 115 Girardi 
case files. 
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 State Bar Internal Policies.  We requested and received several documents
detailing internal policies and practices from the State Bar, including various
manuals and administrative memoranda regarding conflict-of-interest
policies, ethical screens, and outside employment.

 Forms 700.  We collected and reviewed the available Forms 700 for relevant
individuals.  During the time-period at issue, the State Bar required certain
designated employees to complete Forms 700.  The requirements for which
employees were required to complete Form 700 and the required disclosures
varied from year to year.  Although we requested the State Bar provide us
the completed Forms 700 for individuals relevant to our investigation, the
State Bar was unable to locate all requested forms.  Further, many of the
Forms 700 that were in the State Bar’s files were incomplete and sometimes
not even signed.3

 Emails from Relevant State Bar Employees.  We requested emails for
former State Bar employees who were believed to have information relevant
to the investigation.  Because emails for former employees are archived, and
the available archives are almost certainly incomplete, the State Bar had
limitations on the availability of relevant emails to our investigation.  We
were, however, able to obtain additional emails and documents that were
previously collected by the State Bar’s former outside counsel relating to a
different investigation and to suits brought by four former State Bar
employees.  Using this email set, we applied search terms and limiters to
identify and review relevant emails to our investigation.

 Documents from Girardi Keese.  In 2021, Girardi Keese was placed in
involuntary bankruptcy, and a trustee was appointed to oversee its
affairs.  We subpoenaed the Girardi Keese trustee for documents relevant to
our investigation, including emails with State Bar employees and officers
and financial documents.  Initially the Girardi Keese trustee objected, due to
the cost of complying with the subpoena.  After negotiations, we entered into
a court-approved stipulation with the trustee, and the trustee produced both
emails and financial records to us with the State Bar covering the expense of
compliance.  The Girardi Keese documents were some of the most insightful

3 We discuss the disclosures made on those Forms 700 by certain State Bar employees in 
further detail below, but note here that by not insisting on its employees completing these 
forms completely, the State Bar faces increased difficulty in identifying conflicts and 
holding individuals accountable for not handling conflicts appropriately. 
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materials we received in the investigation, as they documented cash and gifts 
flowing from Girardi Keese to State Bar employees and officers.   

 Documents from Outside Law Firm.  As part of our review of the work
done by OUTSIDE ATTORNEY C, an SDTC on a Girardi case, we
requested any documents related to that case from the successor to the law
firm where he worked.

 Subpoenaed Documents.  Although we subpoenaed documents from many
witnesses relating to their relationships with Girardi and/or their handling of
Girardi cases, nearly all of them claimed they did not possess any such
documents.  A few witnesses voluntarily provided us with relevant
documents they maintained, including a former State Bar contractor who
worked on a Girardi case.

 Miscellaneous Other Documents.  As our investigation progressed, we
requested documents from the State Bar.  The State Bar always responded to
our request, either by providing us with the required documents or by
informing us that the documents were not available.

Witness Interviews 

As part of our investigation, we interviewed 74 people.  Our general approach 
was to first reach out to witnesses to see if they would meet with us voluntarily. 
Most witnesses agreed to voluntary interviews.  For those who did not respond to 
our outreach or refused to speak to us voluntarily, we subpoenaed the witness to 
compel their testimony.  Once subpoenaed, most witnesses complied, except two 
former State Bar employees: Layton and Sonja Oehler.  For Layton and Oehler, we 
had to seek enforcement of their subpoenas in Los Angeles County Superior Court 
(“Superior Court”).  One witness whom we subpoenaed for testimony, former State 
Bar employee Greenberg, asserted his Fifth Amendment privilege to refuse to 
answer any questions about his activities and work at the State Bar or his 
connections to Girardi.  Girardi, through his counsel, informed us that medical 
professionals and the Superior Court have determined Girardi was not mentally 
competent and was thus unable to testify.  Girardi’s counsel further explained that 
regardless of his competency issues, he or his conservator on his behalf, would 
assert his Fifth Amendment privilege in response to all questions asked of him.  As 
a result, we determined there was no benefit to taking Girardi’s testimony.  
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The witnesses we spoke to broke down into the following categories: 

 Current State Bar employees, officers, or Board members;

 Former State Bar employees, officers, or Board members;

 Former and current SDTCs;

 Former attorneys or employees at Girardi Keese (or predecessor firm); and

 Miscellaneous others including individuals who contacted us regarding
Girardi, an attorney who was involved in the 2014 MTO report, and a spouse of
a State Bar employee who received money from Girardi Keese.
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RELATED INVESTIGATIONS AND REPORTING 

Below, we provide details on investigations, cases, or reporting that preceded or 
has paralleled our investigation.  These items informed our investigation, but where 
relevant, we have taken steps to independently verify details relevant to the scope 
of our investigation.  

The 2014 Munger, Tolles & Olson Report 

On July 31, 2014, the then-Chief Trial Counsel, CTC 2, made a whistleblower 
complaint about then-Executive Director Dunn and others to then-Deputy Executive 
Director Hawley.  Her report raised several issues, including the Mongolia trip taken 
by Dunn, Layton, and Miller; and other matters.  In response to CTC 2’s report, the 
State Bar retained outside counsel Munger, Tolles & Olson LLP (“MTO”) to 
investigate CTC 2’s complaints.  MTO’s investigation was not focused on OCTC 
or its resolution of Girardi cases. 

MTO produced a report, in which it provided a number of conclusions related to 
the concerns raised by CTC 2.  As part of its report, MTO flagged that “[t]he 
frequency with which Girardi’s firm has surfaced in matters . . . investigated is 
striking,” and it noted that “the closeness of the relationship between some senior 
managers and [Girardi Keese] does raise potentially troubling perceptions.”  MTO 
made the following recommendation in its report: “The Board should instruct senior 
management how important it is to cultivate and maintain a public perception that 
the Bar represents all attorneys, and that no one law firm or segment of the bar has 
a special position.  It should further instruct management that its conduct to date 
may have created an unhealthy perception that Girardi and his firm have special 
influence or receive special treatment – and that management should take steps to 
dispel and avoid contributing further to this perception in the future.”  MTO also 
found that Layton approached CTC 2 when she entered a managerial role “to offer 
assistance from Girardi in helping her to become a judge or achieve some other 
professional goal,” and that Dunn made similar offers to State Bar Board Presidents 
without mentioning Girardi. 

The Lion Air Litigation and Criminal Indictments 

Girardi Keese and Edelson PC served as plaintiffs’ counsel in the litigation 
arising from the crash of Lion Air Flight 610 in October 2018.  The case, which was 
proceeding in federal court in the Northern District of Illinois, was settled in early 
2020.  In December 2020, Edelson sued Girardi, Girardi Keese, and others, alleging 
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that Girardi and Girardi Keese were “on the verge of financial collapse and locked 
in a downward spiral of mounting debts and dwindling funds.”  Edelson further 
alleged that Girardi “has resorted to embezzling the proceeds of settlements that 
should have been directed to his clients.”  In mid-December 2020, an Illinois federal 
judge found Girardi and Girardi Keese in civil contempt, froze their assets, and 
referred the matter to the U.S. Attorney’s Office for the Northern District of Illinois. 

On February 1, 2023, the U.S. Attorney’s Offices for the Northern District of 
Illinois and the Central District of California announced that Girardi had been 
indicted by grand juries for wire fraud (in both actions) and civil contempt (in the 
Illinois action).  

State Bar Case 21-O-30192 Against Girardi 

In March 2021, the State Bar initiated disciplinary proceedings against Girardi 
in State Bar Court Case No. SBC-21-O-30192, alleging several violations of the 
Rules of Professional Conduct stemming from three State Bar cases, including a 
case arising from the Lion Air litigation.  In April 2021, the State Bar moved for an 
entry of default against Girardi after he failed to file a response to the notice of 
disciplinary charges, and in November 2021, the State Bar petitioned the State Bar 
Court for an order recommending Girardi’s disbarment.  In June 2022, the Supreme 
Court of California ordered Girardi disbarred.  This was the first instance of any 
public discipline against Girardi. 

Press Reporting on Girardi Connections with the State Bar 

There have been multiple reports from investigative journalists concerning 
Girardi’s connections with State Bar employees.  Of note, the Los Angeles Times 
released investigative reports in March and July 2021 regarding connections 
between Girardi and various State Bar employees, including Layton and 
Dunn.  Then, in July 2021, Law360 released additional reporting on Girardi’s 
connections with Layton.  These and other news outlets have followed up on that 
reporting.  We have reviewed the media reports to identify leads and evidence to 
pursue as part of our investigation and independently verified any facts we relied 
upon. 
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STATE BAR ORGANIZATION AND RELEVANT STATE BAR 
POLICIES AND PRACTICES 

In order to put our investigation and findings into context, it is important to 
understand the organization and structure of the State Bar as well as the conflict-of-
interest and other policies that govern the State Bar, especially State Bar Rule 2201 
and Forms 700.   

To the extent the reader is not familiar with the State Bar’s structure and 
organization, including the function of OCTC, we have prepared an appendix 
summarizing that information.  (Appendix A.)   

Below, we outline the conflict-of-intertest concepts that informed our 
investigation and conclusions, and make findings regarding State Bar employees’ 
overall awareness of these concepts based on our interviews.  We have also prepared 
an appendix summarizing in greater detail the relevant conflicts-of-interest concepts 
and policies, and how applicable policies have changed over the years, including 
the important changes that went into effect last year.  (Appendix B.)   

Prosecutorial Ethics and Conflicts-of-Interest 

All lawyers are subject to ethics rules that prohibit conflicts-of-interest, such as 
those contained in California’s Rules of Professional Conduct.  Prosecutors—
government attorneys charged with enforcing the law against others on behalf of the 
public—are subject to even greater ethical considerations regarding conflicts-of-
interest that require them to avoid even the appearance of impropriety.  The 
existence of the appearance of impropriety is related, to but separate, from the 
existence of an actual conflict-of-interest, and the appearance of impropriety alone 
may render a government official’s involvement in a case inappropriate even where 
there is no actual conflict-of-interest under the applicable rules.  This concept is 
embodied in the case law, ethics opinions, and industry ethical standards that are 
discussed in Appendix B. 

The OCTC’s own conflicts-of-interest policies have historically been quite 
weak, and did not explicitly prohibit, for example, State Bar employees from 
receiving gifts from the lawyers they are regulating.  As set forth in more detail in 
Appendix B, the State Bar’s principal rule for handling conflicts-of-interest, Rule 
of Procedure 2201, was until 2016 focused on recusal of the CTC, rather than of 
line employees in OCTC, and made recusal discretionary in many instances. 
Although the State Bar’s policies have been recently augmented to account for these 
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issues, as discussed in the section below, many State Bar employees we interviewed 
were unfamiliar with or could not easily articulate a more robust understanding of 
conflicts rules that includes the requirement to avoid the appearance of impropriety, 
even though this requirement—which is imposed by the common law—applies to 
State Bar decisionmakers.   

The additional ethical considerations imposed by California common law to 
govern government attorneys and the appearance of impropriety are intended not 
only to provide for fairness in the actual administration of justice, but to protect and 
facilitate the public’s confidence in the administration of justice and in the 
government’s ability to prosecute cases fairly and objectively.  Indeed, disinterested 
decisionmakers are one of the bedrocks our or legal system and are a fundamental 
component of the concept of due process.  The involvement of a conflicted 
government official (or apparently conflicted official) in a discretionary decision 
made on behalf of the public is impermissible and improper because it undermines 
public confidence in our government and our institutions.  Accordingly, where we 
have found that a conflicted individual made discretionary decisions on behalf of 
the State Bar in a case involving Girardi, we have concluded that the case was 
improperly handled. 

In the sections that follow, we discuss whether certain individuals had conflicts-
of-interest.  In those discussions, we are referring to all of the concepts discussed 
above and in Appendix B. 

Employee Awareness of Policies 

During interviews, numerous OCTC employees identified the California Rules 
of Professional Conduct as the sole source of ethical considerations that governed 
their work, and did not identify any additional ethics rules or guidelines that applied 
to their work enforcing the law against other attorneys on behalf of the 
public.  Indeed, as described in detail below, even the State Bar’s then-Deputy 
Executive Director Hawley analyzed conflict issues involving an SDTC counsel 
who was appointed to investigate Girardi solely under the California Rules of 
Professional Conduct, without addressing the conflict rules applicable to 
government attorneys or the appearance of impropriety.  

In interviews conducted before the State Bar’s most recent conflicts rules were 
implemented, numerous OCTC employees stated that they had not received any 
training on applicable conflicts-of-interest rules and guidelines, and some 
employees had a poor recollection of, and/or could not meaningfully articulate, the 
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applicable conflicts-of-interest rules after formal training was provided.  Multiple 
employees also reported handling conflicts on an informal, ad hoc basis, for 
example by asking a supervisor to reassign a case because they knew someone 
involved.  
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FACTUAL FINDINGS 
Thomas V. Girardi - Background 

Much has been said, written, and reported about Girardi, and we only summarize 
some key points here. Ginudi was a member of the California Bar between 1965 
and 2022. 

Date License Status O Discipline 0 

Present Disbarred 

7/ 1/2022 Disbarred Disbarment 21-0-30192 0 

Not elig ible to Ordered inactive 21-0 -30192 0 
1/13/2022 . . 

practice law m CA 

Not eligible to Ordered inactive 21-0 -30192 0 
8/9/2021 

practice law in CA 

Administrative 

ActionO 

7/1/2021 
Not elig ible to Suspended, failed to 

practice law in CA pay fees 

3/30/2021 

3/9/2021 
Not elig ible to 

practice law in CA 

Discip linary charges fi led in 

State Bar Court 21-0-30192 0 

1/ 13/ 1965 Admitted to the State Bar of California 

Ordered inactive 

Over time, he became a preeminent plaintiffs lawyer who recovered hundreds 
of millions of dollars in settlements and judgments. A character based on Girardi 
was featured in the film Erin Brockovich. More recently, Girardi became famous 
for his appearances on the reality TV show, The Real Housewives of Beverly Hills, 
which featured his then-wife, Erika Jayne. 

For a long pe1iod of time, Girardi was a powerbroker in the California political 
sphere. He raised and donated large sums of money for those mnning at all levels 
of office, which helped him develop relationships with elected officials. Girardi 
reportedly advised multiple California governors on judicial appointments and 
helped numerous lawyers become judges. Girardi also hosted fundraisers, like he 
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did for Dunn during Dunn's campaigns for the California State Senate. Indeed, the 
reach of Girardi 's political connections was extraordinary. For example, Miller 
reported to us that if Girardi made a telephone call to California Governor Jerry 
Brown or to President Clinton, the call would be returned within hours, and the Los 
Angeles Times rep01ted a similar sentiment in March 2021. 

Cos Los Angeles Times .,-t 
.'.\nQrlts . 
it,tmi-s @lat,mes 

He could get Govs. Gavin Newsom and Jerry Brown on 
the phone with ease, associates said. 

He and then-wife Erika Jayne regularly traveled to 
Washington, D.C. , where then-Senate Majority Leader 
Harry Reid appointed him to a Library of Congress 
board. 

The broad reach of Girardi' s influence among politicians has been widely 
reported for yeai-s, including a Los Angeles Times article about Girardi' s 
connections to President Biden, California Governors Jeny Brown and Gavin 
Newsom, and former Attorney General Bill Lockyer, not to mention U.S. Senators. 

As the press rep01ting indicates, Girardi ' s political connections played a 
significant role in his ability to influence judicial appointments, both state and 
federal. Miller rep01ted that he believed that at least for certain periods of time, 
Girardi had the power to prevent someone from becoming a judge if he wanted to. 
Girardi also made financial donations to judicial election campaigns. 

Girardi was not shy about spending money on his well-connected friends or to 
make new ones. Every year, he hosted multiple lavish parties that were attended by 
politicians, judges, prominent attorneys, prosecutors, and State Bar employees and 
officials. He also hosted regular lunches and other meals at Morton's, The Palm, 
and the Jonathan Club that were attended by politicians, local officials, and State 
Bar employees. Girardi provided generous gifts and benefits to those he knew or 
was trying to meet. For example, he had a private jet which he used to fly friends 
and colleagues for work or pleasure, including several State Bar employees and 
officials. 
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As described above, we understand that Girardi has recently been diagnosed 
with Alzheimer's Disease, which has greatly affected his mem01y and competency. 
Girardi was not interviewed as part of the investigation because of his competency 
issues and because Girardi, through his attorney, informed us he would invoke his 
Fifth Amendment right against self-incrimination to all our questions. 

Allegations Against Thomas Girardi and Failure of the State Bar to Publicly 
Discipline Him 

While Girardi has recently been publicly accused of stealing client funds and 
cheating his co-counsel out of fees, these allegations are not new to the State Bar. 
The State Bar was aware of over 200 misconduct complaints against Girardi dating 
back to at least 1984. In total, between 1982 and January 2021, 130 complaints 
were made to the State Bar about Girar·di, none of which resulted in any public 
discipline, and the vast majority of which were closed without an disci line. Some 

resolved with rivate disci line such as 

Others were resolved with no discipline at all. 
last year, no cases resulted in public discipline. 

Dozens of those State Bar· complaints against Girar·di involved allegations that 
he stole from his clients or committed some other trust account violation (e.g. , he 
did not properly keep track of client funds, provide accountings when requested by 
clients, or segregate client funds from firm funds) . In several of the cases where 
Girardi was accused of misappropriating client funds, the facts followed a familiar 
pattern: Girardi settled a case and received settlement funds but, even aBer multiple 
requests from the client, did not pay the client her shar·e of the proceeds. The client 
would then, out of desperation, file a complaint with the State Bar against 
Girardi. Shortly after the complaint was filed, Girardi would pay the client what 
was owed and, as part of the arTangement, the client would drop the complaint. At 
that point, the State Bar· would close the case, even though in many instances the 
evidence of violations were clear· cut. A similar· type of complaint was from 
Girardi's co-counsel, who would allege that Girardi failed to pay them their fair 
share of settlements. Those complaints were also resolved in a similar manner­
mer a complaint was filed, Girardi would pay off his co-counsel, co-counsel would 
withdraw their complaint, and the State Bar would close the case. 

On February 1, 2023, the Depar1ment of Justice announced two indictments 
against Girardi charging him with wire fraud, based upon allegations that he stole 
millions of dollar·s from his clients as part of a lengthy fraud scheme. 
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Girardi's Connections with the State Bar and the Impact of Those 
Connections 

Girardi maintained connections to the State Bar at nearly every level. One 
witness told us, "[i]t's like Girardi became part of the fabric of the State Bar·." Our 
investigation determined that Girardi had connections to the Board, the Executive 
Director's Office, and OCTC, both at the managerial and line prosecutor and 
investigator level, and that spanned decades. He appears to have been involved in 
identifying candidates for the Boar·d, and there is evidence he was involved in the 
appointment of at least one State Bar· Court judge and attempted to influence the 
appointment of a CTC. Girar·di, sometimes acting through a conduit, appear·s to 
have invited State Bar employees to meals, parties, concerts, ball games and other 
events, many of which he seems to have paid for. 

In all, we have discovered evidence connecting at least nine State Bar· employees 
or Boar·d members who had connections to or accepted items of value, travel, or 
meals from Girar·di at the time they were at the State Bar, State Bar Court, or the 
Board. Three of those individuals were involved in the closure of State Bar· cases 
against Girardi, and we conclude that two of these individuals had conflicts-of­
interest at the time they handled the cases. 

Many of the individuals who appear· to have had connections to Girardi 
presented on panels together at the annual Consumer Attorneys Association of Los 
Angeles ("CAALA") convention in Las Vegas, which CTC 2 refen-ed to as a 
"boondoggle." Here ar·e excerpts from a few CAALA flyers advertising the State 
Bar employees who were speaking at the annual event. 

Avoiding Trouble with the State Bar 
and 

What to Do When an Investigation Opens 
Hon. Richard Platcel, State Bar Judge 

Thoma~ Layton, St.:1te &r I nvestigatm­
Murr.ay GrN!'nberg, Sup~vising Tridl 

Counsel for the Stat,e Bar 

2008 CAALA 

PRIVILEGED / WORK PRODUCT 

www.halpernmay.com 

21 IP age 

550 South Hope Street I Suite 2330 I Los Angeles, California 90071 



HALPERN MAY YBARRA GELBERG LLP 
ATTORNEY-CLIENT PRIVILEGED/CONFIDENTIAL 
ATTORNEY WORK PRODUCT 

Avoiding '!'rouble with t.he State Bar 
Hon. Richard Plat el, State Bar ,fudge 

~',,11.irraJ Greenberg, State Bar 
Supen1i.'li11g Trial Counsel 

Thomas LaJ tou, 
State Bar bl!'estigator 

2010 CAALA 

SPECIAL TY CREDITS 
Moderator: Shawn Mccann 
Legal Ethics 11 hour) 
Avoiding Trouble with the state Bar 
Joe Dunn, Murray Greenberg, 
Thomas Layton, Hon. Donald Miles, 
Hon. Richard Plate/ 

2013 CAALA 

A.t,1odr.g ... ra.b:e wlh :rre Slate Bar 
SMalO.r Josepl'I D..xv1 (Rst), CEO, 
Qni"oi·n ~a Sa::e Bar 
.~l'.tl P~tei., St(&'6'1'V1~11g Hea,'Y.'l) .>!.t!I'~!:!. 
C-a.t;fomia srate &.' Coo.rt 
Oo."1/JJd f;IJ.1!:!S,, .~ ring Jc.v:,gs 
C.a,'rt:i.rraa Swra Bar Ccu.1' 
Mt.T.'~Jo• a,ee~ s~.n .. cr ,.d~ay. 
omce ni u-.e c.w: Trrat Cot.J::ise/ 
TJJOO.'ii~ L.iflD'I, Jt,drcia-{ U31.SOO, 
Offi,r.;e ol P .ub,1,t ~ 

2014CAALA 

We understand that Girardi was well connected with CAALA, and that his firm 
threw a party at the CAALA convention each year that multiple State Bar employees 
attended. 

In addition to Girardi's connections to specific individuals affiliated with the 
State Bar, witnesses reported that Girardi often threw parties attended by OCTC 
personnel above and beyond the individuals that we detail below as well as by many 
federal and state judges and other prominent lawyers from leading law 
firms. Multiple witnesses spoke about how judges and other prominent lawyers or 
politicians at these events would rave about how highly they thought of Girardi. 
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One witness reported that Girardi had always valued his connections with people, 
and that Girardi would cultivate relationships through his hosting large events with 
many invitees.  As the witness described it, to Girardi, “relationships were the key 
to everything.”  Based on Girardi’s pattern of conduct, and the details outlined 
below in this report, it appears that Girardi’s cultivation of relationships at the State 
Bar and with related individuals and institutions was intentionally designed to 
increase his influence at the State Bar. 

 
As an example, a witness who served for several years on the State Bar’s Board, 

eventually serving as its President, reported to us that during his time at the State 
Bar, there was background chatter about Girardi and how well connected he was, 
politically and otherwise.  For example, Girardi was at many prominent sponsorship 
events relating to the legal community.  Another former Board member and 
President of the Board recounted an encounter that he had with Girardi (first to MTO 
during their investigation in 2014 and then to us).  The former Board member said 
that after he decided to run for president of the Board, the outgoing President, Luis 
Rodriguez, told him that he should meet with Layton because (as MTO recounted) 
“Layton was not yet sure if he would throw his support to [the former Board 
member].”  The former Board member reported that he found the suggestion 
strange, because Layton was just a State Bar employee, but nonetheless agreed.  He 
reported that when he arrived at the meeting, Girardi came to the table to speak with 
him and Layton.  The former Board member reported that the conversation was 
limited to small talk, and that Girardi did not ask for or offer anything of value 
related to the witness’s possible election as President.   

 
Another witness also reported to us that there were rumors that Girardi had 

certain Bar employees or executives removed from their positions.  Whether or not 
this is actually true (and we were unable to corroborate this particular witness’s 
account), the mere fact that people affiliated with the State Bar believed that Girardi 
had such power and influence is illustrative of his perceived influence and power. 
 

Keeping with Girardi’s reported focus on building relationships, multiple 
witnesses reported that Layton offered Girardi’s assistance in the development of 
their careers, particularly if they were seeking judicial seats in the future.  One 
witness reported to us that because of Girardi’s perceived connections at all levels 
of the State Bar, he believed that there was no place within the State Bar to report 
concerns about Girardi. 
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Additionally, State Bar employees and officers accepted gifts, including meals 
at Girardi's regular table at Morton's, knowing that Girardi was paying. Other State 
Bar employees and officers accepted meals and other gifts for which they claimed 
not to know the source. These individuals reported to us that they were not 
completely sure who paid for their free meals and thus could not be sure it had been 
Girardi, though they were sure they themselves did not pay and they did not name 
anyone else as having possibly paid. 

As discussed above, Girardi was akeady prominent in the profession by the 
1990s. His stature in the community may have contributed to the perception that 
bringing any disciplinruy charges against him would be an uphill battle that involved 
taking on one of the leaders of the le al rofession. Indeed, at least one case file 
contains a notation re ru·din and the rationale for closin 
another case included 

We also found evidence showing that Girru·di exploited his connections with the 
State Bar to deter someone from even filing complaints with the State Bar in the 
first place. As described below, a witness reported that, after■ threatened to 
report Girardi to the State Bar, Girru·di invited ■ to a dinner that Layton also 
attended. ■ understood this to be an attempt to intimidate■ with Layton's State 
Bru· connections in an effort to deter■ from filing a State Bar complaint. Girardi 
also name-dropped Layton on at least one occasion to an attorney who complained 
about his conduct in what appears to be an attempt to get the upper hand in litigation 
(also described in fmther detail below). 

Fmther, Girardi referenced his connections inside the State Bru· to State Bar 
emplo e · · · · · · · · · 

Due to Girard's mental state and asse1tion of his Fifth 
Amendment rights, we were not able to ask him who he was refe1Ting to ~ 
- d d . h. d . . L d . d kn . h G. d. 
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OCTC, made up of individual attorneys and investigators handling each case, is 
afforded great discretion in determining whether to close complaints against 
attorneys. See Rule 2601 , Rules of Procedure of the State Bar of California ("The 
Office of Chief Trial Counsel may, in its discretion, close an inquiry, complaint or 
investigation. The inquiry, complaint or investigation may also be closed with the 
issuance of a warning letter or a directional letter or by any other appropriate manner 
not constituting discipline."). Personal connections to Girardi by State Bar 
employees exercising this discretion create conflicts-of-interest and the appearance 
of impropriety, and thus taint the handling of the cases and the discretionary 
decision to close the cases without public discipline. In total, our investigation 
revealed that at least nine Girardi cases were handled by OCTC employees who had 
a connection to, or appear to have received benefits from, Girardi and/or his law 
firm at some point in time. All of these cases were closed without public discipline. 
Eight of those nine cases were closed by individuals whom we determined had 
conflicts-of-interest at the time they worked on the cases. We conclude that the 
involvement of conflicted individuals in these cases taints the discretionary 
decisions made in those cases and means that they were improperly handled. 

In the sections that follow, we detail, inter alia, the connections that were 
reported to us by State Bar employees, past and present, and other witnesses, but 
note that not all reported allegations regarding Girardi were con-oborated. 
Nevertheless, we have included the reports we discuss below in our confidential and 
attorney-client privileged report because they are relevant to the Board's 
understanding of Girardi's influence at the State Bar, which appears to have 
perpetuated itself in part through rumors regarding Girardi' s connections to State 
Bar· leaders. 

Connections at the Executive and Board Level 

Over the years, Girardi had connections to multiple people on the State Bar's 
Boar·d and in its Executive Director's Office.4 Our investigation did not reveal any 

4 Because Layton began his employment at the State Bar in OCTC and spent the majority 
of his time inside OCTC before being reassigned to the Executive Director's Office, his 
connections to Girardi are detailed in the section regarding OCTC employees, below. 
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material connections between Girardi and any current Board executive or Board 
member.  
  

Joseph Dunn 
  

Joseph Dunn served as the Executive Director of the State Bar from November 
2010 to November 2014, when he was terminated for misconduct and false 
representations he made to the Board.  Together with Layton, Oehler, and Noonen, 
Dunn sued the State Bar after his termination, alleging, inter alia, wrongful 
termination and retaliation.  Dunn’s suit went to arbitration, and the arbitrator 
ultimately found in favor of the State Bar.  In July 2022, the State Bar, by and 
through an SDTC appointed under State Bar Rule 2201, initiated disciplinary 
proceedings against Dunn, alleging acts of moral turpitude in connection with his 
role at the State Bar.  Those disciplinary proceedings are currently ongoing.  

  
Dunn has personal and professional connections to Girardi and others in 

Girardi’s orbit, including Miller and Layton.  Dunn told us that he first met Girardi 
sometime in the 1990s, when both were members of the plaintiff’s counsel 
bar.  According to Dunn, Girardi held fundraisers for and donated to both of Dunn’s 
California State Senate campaigns, in 1998 and 2002.  Dunn knew both Miller and 
Layton before Dunn joined the State Bar in 2010.  In 2013, Dunn moved Layton 
from his longstanding position as an investigator in OCTC into a newly created 
position in the Executive Director’s Office, where Layton reported directly to Dunn. 
CTC 2 suggested that this transfer occurred because she was planning to give Layton 
a negative performance review. 

 
Dunn and Girardi maintained a personal and professional relationship after Dunn 

left the State Bar; for example, Dunn and Girardi explored working together as 
attorneys in private practice around 2018.  According to Dunn, he and Girardi last 
spoke sometime in the fall of 2020.  

  
During his tenure at the State Bar, Dunn was invited to and attended lunches 

with Girardi, including at Morton’s and the Jonathan Club, and parties hosted by 
Girardi, like Girardi’s Superbowl and Christmas parties, as well as other events 
hosted and paid for by Girardi.  Dunn’s office, by and through his secretary Oehler, 
was even involved in assisting a third-party who wanted to attend one of Girardi’s 
parties.  When asked which State Bar employees he recalled seeing at Girardi’s 
parties, Dunn identified only Layton.  When asked if he had seen Greenberg or 
Richard Platel at Girardi’s parties, Dunn stated that he had a vague recollection of 
seeing them at parties, but could not place them at specific parties on specific 
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dates. In 2012, an email shows that Dunn planned to attend the dedication of the 
"Thomas V. Ginudi Chair" at Loyola Law School. 

Subject: FYL..Sen. Joe Dunn will be attending the May 2nd dedication of the Thomas V. Girardi Chai r. 

And in 2013, Dunn-along with Layton-was included on Girardi Keese's guest 
list for an ASCDC (likely the Association of Southern California Defense Counsel) 
event. 

Dunn flew on Ginudi 's private plane before, during, and after his tenure at the 
State Bar. During his sworn deposition, Dunn admitted to the flights before and 
after his time at the State Bar, but stated that he had only taken one trip on the plane 
during his time at the State Bar-the trip he took together with Luis 
Rodriguez. However, this appears to be inconsistent with documentary evidence 
indicating that Dunn flew on Girardi ' s plane at least five times while he was the 
Executive Director of the State Bar. 

Subject: Ocparturc for lotr1:>IT'C1''' will be 4:30 pm for Sacramento; 4 passenger~: Tom, 
lavton. Joe Doon goin to a 6:30dinncr at Cafeteria I ISL, I I I 6 15th St., Sacrnmcnto -

Too, 

According to records from Girardi Keese, it appears that Girardi Keese donated 
$25,000 to Dunn's campaign for the California State Senate in 2000. 

Check History Report 
Sorted By Check Number 
Activity From: 1/1/2000 to 12/31/2020 

Bank Code: A Operati~ • CBB #0045/0312 
Check Check Vondor 
Number Dato Number Name 

090218 12/29/2000 1 DUNN JOE DUNN FOR STATE SENATE 
Bank A Total: 
Report Tot.al: 

Girardi & Keese (GIR) 

25,000.00 Manual 

25,000.00 
25,000.00 

Girardi Keese apparently paid $240,000 to the Law Offices of Joseph Dunn over 
2009 and 2010, before Dunn joined the State Bar. 
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Check History Report 
Sorted By Check Number 
Activity From: 1/1/2000 to 12/31/2020 

[\Bank Code: A Operatlng - CBB 10045/0312 
Check Check Vendot 
Number Date Number Name 

147255 9/11/2009 
147659 l0/512009 
1488-45 12/1/2009 
149013 12/4/2009 
150169 2/3/2010 
150369 2/10/2010 

1DUNJOE 
1DUNJOE 
1DUNJOE 
1DUNJOE 
1DUNJOE 
1DUNJOE 

LAW OFFICES OF JOSEPH DUNN 
LAW OFFICES OF JOSEPH DUNN 
LAW OFFICES OF JOSEPH L DUNN 
LAW OFFICES OF JOSEPH L DUNN 
LAW OFFICES OF JOSEPH L. DUNN 
LAW OFFICES OF JOSEPH L DUNN 

Bank A Total: 

Report Totat 

Girardi & Keese (GIR) 

Check Amount Chock Type 

40,000.00 Mllnual 
40,000.00 Manual 
40,000.00 Manual 
40,000.00 Manual 
40,000.00 Manual 
40,000.00 Manual 
240,000.00 

240,000.00 

During his sworn deposition, Dunn was asked about, but did not disclose, any 
payments or gifts from Girardi Keese. 

Dunn also appears to have received gifts from Girardi in the form of hotels and 
entertainment in Las Vegas. Based on an email sent by a Girardi Keese employee 
to Dunn's assistant, it appears that Girardi paid for hotel expenses and concert 
tickets for Dunn in 2012, while Dunn was still working for the State Bar. 

Subject: RE: Tom & Erika Girardi Holiday Party 

Hi Sonja, 

Rooms have been booked at The Wynn Tower Suites: I mom for Joe Dwm for arrival 12/ 14 & out on 12/1 6; 
I room for you and your daughter for same dates. 

l have reserved 3 tickets to the Faith Hill/Tim McGraw 8 pm show at the Venetian. We'll probably have a 
reception Friday before the concert al maybe 5 pm. 

Anyone golfing on Saturday? 

Dunn also c01Tesponded with a Girardi Keese employee in 2010 about another Las 
Vegas trip. Dunn asked the Girardi Keese employee about tickets to a show and the 
Girardi Keese employee confnmed that the tickets had been procured and provided 
Dunn with check-in details for a suite at the Wynn, suggesting that Girardi had 
ananged for the trip. 

We got the 3 tickets for the 7:30 p.m. show for "O" at the Bellagio. You will have your tickets upon 
check in at The Tower Suites registration in the Wynn. 
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Dunn attended annual CAALA conventions in Las Vegas in at least 2013 and 

2014, and Dunn reportedly clashed with CTC 2 over OCTC attorney Greenberg’s 
attendance.  Dunn also attended the State Bar trip to Mongolia, together with Miller 
and Layton.  This trip was a subject of the 2014 MTO investigation and was detailed 
in their results.  MTO concluded that Dunn misled the Board about whether State 
Bar funds would be used to pay for the trip, and found that after the use of State Bar 
funds had come to light, Girardi Keese made a payment and/or donation to the State 
Bar as a potential reimbursement. 5  Miller and another Girardi Keese attorney 
donated to Dunn’s congressional campaign after Dunn left the State Bar.  

  
Approximately nineteen Girardi cases were closed during Dunn’s tenure as 

Executive Director.  Although, as Executive Director, Dunn was not supposed to 
have a role in the State Bar’s disciplinary function—something he admitted—we 
found evidence that Dunn nevertheless inserted himself into OCTC management in 
a way that inured to Girardi’s benefit.  As discussed in detail below, Dunn was 
involved in the termination of four senior OCTC attorneys, including two who were 
advocating for discipline against Girardi.  During his deposition, Dunn admitted he 
was involved in the termination but described his involvement as at most 
ministerial.  

  
By reviewing emails, we learned that in 2013—after Dunn moved Layton to the 

Executive Director’s Office—Dunn’s office received a letter flagging that Layton 
may have some inappropriate involvement in State Bar cases against Girardi.  Dunn 
was shown the letter during his sworn deposition, but he stated he had no 
recollection and thus could not comment.  This letter was later forwarded to Deputy 
Executive Director Hawley, and Hawley’s handling of the allegations is discussed 
in further detail below.  Dunn denied that he even heard anything about Layton 
interceding in cases on behalf of Girardi during Dunn’s time with the State Bar. 

  
Dunn submitted Forms 700 for the years 2010, 2011, and 2013.  The State Bar 

does not have a Form 700 for Dunn for the years 2012 or 2014, and there are other 
irregularities with the records.  For example, Dunn’s form for 2013 is incomplete 
and unsigned, and the form for 2010 is dated as having been completed in 2013.  
Dunn did not disclose any gifts or things of value from Girardi or Girardi Keese in 
any of the Forms 700 we were provided.  When asked whether he disclosed things 
of value he received from Girardi during his time at the State Bar, Dunn stated that 

 
5 Dunn’s representations to the Board regarding the Mongolia trip form part of the basis 
for the current disciplinary charges pending against Dunn. 
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he did not recall, because he considered the disclosures an administrative issue and 
left them to his assistant Oehler to handle, even though he was required to sign them 
himself under penalty of perjury.  During her sworn deposition, Oehler testified that 
she did not complete any Forms 700 for Dunn, that she did not keep track of items 
that Dunn was to disclose on his Form 700, and that she did not recall her job 
responsibilities as having included tracking items of value for Dunn to disclose.  

Howard Miller 

Howard Miller served on the State Bar Board of Trustees (formerly known as 
the Board of Governors) from 2006 to 2010, serving as its President from 2009 to 
2010.  Concurrent with his tenure on the Board, Miller was also an attorney at 
Girardi Keese with the title “partner.”  While Miller had the title of “partner” at 
Girardi Keese, he was not a true partner of the firm.  Based upon what Miller told 
us, Girardi was the sole owner of the firm, and Miller and other attorneys were 
essentially employees of Girardi Keese.  Miller and Girardi worked together to 
varying extents on Girardi Keese cases during Miller’s sixteen years at Girardi’s 
law firm (2002 to 2018).  

Miller and Girardi also interacted socially during these years.  Miller flew on 
Girardi’s private jet.  Additionally, they attended many lunches together at Morton’s 
and elsewhere.  Girardi always paid for everything at the lunches.  Miller reported 
that Layton was frequently at these lunches, and that Dunn was sometimes in 
attendance as well, though less frequently than Layton.  Miller reported that 
although Layton was often present, Miller did not know any substantive details 
about Layton’s relationship with Girardi.  Miller heard rumors that Layton was 
acting as the “gatekeeper” to Girardi but did not believe that to be true.  It appears 
that Miller and Layton may have an interpersonal relationship.  A witness reported 
hearing Miller and Layton frequently speak by phone while Miller was State Bar 
President, which he viewed as unusual, and the two also exchanged multiple 
emails.    

At least one large event was thrown by Girardi in Miller’s honor, a formal lunch 
to celebrate Miller’s election as State Bar Board President, with approximately 200 
people attending, including many people affiliated with the State Bar.  The State 
Bar’s official agenda for Board of Governors Meetings and Events at the 82nd State 
Bar Annual Meeting in September 2009 prominently features a notation indicating 
that the luncheon was “hosted by Girardi Keese.”  
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Saturday, September 12, 2009 

11 :30 AM - 1 :30 PM California Judges Association (CJA)/State Bar Board of Governors 
Swearing-in Ceremony and Installation Luncheon 
Lunch hosted by Girardi Keese. RSVP required. Use the Annual 
Meeting Pre-registration Form to reserve your tickets. 

Miller joined the State Bar's Board in 2006 after being elected according to the 
election stru cture that existed then. At that time, Miller reported that Girardi was a 
member of a group of prominent attorneys who would make endorsements for 
Board member elections, and Miller discussed his intention to run for a Board seat 
with Girardi before announcing his candidacy and seeking an endorsement from the 
group. Miller stated that although Girardi was supp01tive of Miller 's decision to 
run for President in 2009, Girardi did not campaign on Miller's behalf. Miller told 
us that he never had any discussions or communications with Girardi about State 
Bar issues while Miller was on the Board. 

Miller understood that he had disclosure obligations during the time he served 
on the Board, but told us that he did not report his attendance at Girardi events 
because Miller's association with Girardi Keese was open and apparent. 

In 2012, as discussed above, after Miller left the State Bar and during a time 
period when Miller worked at Girardi Keese but had no f01m al relationship with the 
State Bar, Miller was part of a State Bar delegation on a trip to Mongolia with 
Layton and Dunn. 

We understand that all State Bar Boru·d members were required to complete 
F01ms 700. However, the State Bar has no record of any F01ms 700 completed by 
Miller. 

There were approximately 11 Girardi cases opened while Miller was on the 
Boru·d. We understand based on review of case files and documents that OCTC 
refen-ed Girardi cases to SDTCs pursuant to Rule 2201 while Miller was President 
of the Boru·d from 2009-201 0. We do not have any evidence that Miller had any 
involvement in the handling or resolution of Girardi cases during his time on the 
Boru·d. 
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Sonja Oehler 
  

Sonja Oehler served as Dunn’s executive assistant while Dunn was Executive 
Director of the State Bar, from 2010 to 2014.  Oehler had been Dunn’s assistant at 
the organization at which he was employed before moving to the State Bar, and 
Dunn negotiated for Oehler to continue serving as his assistant when he joined the 
State Bar.  After the State Bar terminated Oehler’s employment in November 2014, 
she filed a lawsuit against the State Bar.  Oehler was represented by Girardi Keese 
in the litigation.  Oehler asked Girardi personally to assist her in her dispute with 
the State Bar, and considers Girardi to have been her personal attorney.  

  
In her role as Dunn’s assistant, Oehler facilitated communications between 

Girardi and his office, and Dunn and his office.  Oehler also communicated 
regularly with Layton, and sometimes with others with connections to Dunn and 
Girardi, including Rodriguez.  In her role as Dunn’s assistant, Oehler received a 
complaint made to Dunn that Layton was inappropriately interceding in a State Bar 
case against Girardi.  Oehler claimed to have no memory of this.  

  
During her sworn deposition, Oehler was asked about Layton’s role in the 

Executive Director’s Office, where the two of them worked.  Oehler did not provide 
any details about Layton’s activities, stating that she did not recall anything about 
what Layton did other than “attend meetings.”  When pressed for details about the 
meetings, she was unable to provide any.  Despite repeated questioning, Oehler did 
not provide any further details about what Layton did while the two of them worked 
together for Dunn in the Executive Director’s Office.  Oehler stated that she has 
maintained a relationship with Layton since they left the State Bar and they speak 
occasionally.   

  
In 2014, before Dunn was terminated, Oehler emailed the Foundation for 

Democracy and Justice to inform it that Girardi would be making a $25,000 
donation, and telling the Foundation that Dunn requested that correspondence 
related to Girardi’s donation be routed through Oehler, so that Oehler could “ensure 
it gets to the right person at the law firm.”  

  
We found that while employed at the State Bar, Oehler received gifts and things 

of value from Girardi and Girardi Keese.  For example, in 2012, Oehler admitted to 
attending Girardi’s holiday party in Las Vegas with her daughter and Dunn.  In 
addition to the party itself, Oehler told us that her accommodation costs at the Wynn 
as well as tickets for a concert at the Venetian were covered by Girardi Keese.   
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During her sworn deposition, Oehler was asked if she received gifts and other 
items of value from Girardi and Girardi Keese, and she answered no.  After 
reviewing emails that we showed her, Oehler admitted that she had attended a 
conference in Las Vegas, and a couple of lunches at Morton’s and the Jonathan 
Club, and holiday parties, and that Girardi likely paid for these. When specifically 
asked if she had received concert tickets from Girardi, she said that she had not, 
until she was shown an email from her personal email account indicating 
otherwise.  Later in the deposition, Oehler admitted that she had also flown on 
Girardi’s private plane and stayed at the St. Regis Hotel in Washington, D.C. at 
Girardi’s expense.  Oehler then disclosed that in addition to the concert tickets, she 
also received tickets to a basketball game from Girardi, though she could not recall 
the time frame for when she received the basketball game tickets and it may have 
been after she left the State Bar.  Oehler admitted that she did not disclose any of 
this on any Form 700 she submitted to the State Bar.  

  
Oehler did submit Forms 700 for the years 2012 and 2013.  The State Bar has 

no record of Forms 700 for Oehler for the years 2010 or 2011; the form for 2013 
appears to also cover 2014, but seems to be incomplete.  All of Oehler’s Forms 700 
are dated as having been completed in 2014, and the 2013 form is not 
signed.  During her sworn deposition, Oehler admitted that she knew that “gifts and 
travel” were required to be disclosed on Forms 700.  Nevertheless, Oehler did not 
disclose any gifts, travel, or other things of value from Girardi or Girardi Keese in 
any of the Forms 700 on file at the State Bar.  

 
We are unaware of Oehler having any involvement in the handling of any 

discipline cases involving Girardi. 
  

Luis Rodriguez 
  

Luis Rodriguez served on the State Bar Board from 2010 through 2014 and as 
its President from 2013 to 2014.6  Rodriguez initially resisted participating in an 
interview for purposes of this investigation, and it took multiple attempts to 
effectuate service on him.  After we informed Rodriguez, through his attorney, that 
the State Bar would seek to compel his compliance with the subpoena issued for his 

 
6 After leaving the State Bar, Rodriguez made a demand for $100,000 to the State Bar for 
alleged defamation.  Unlike Layton, Dunn, Oehler, and Noonen, however, Rodriguez did 
not actually file suit against the State Bar. 



HALPERN MAY YBARRA GELBERG LLP 
ATTORNEY-CLIENT PRIVILEGED/CONFIDENTIAL 
ATTORNEY WORK PRODUCT   

 
PRIVILEGED / WORK PRODUCT                                                                  34 | P a g e  

 
www.halpernmay.com 

550 South Hope Street | Suite 2330 | Los Angeles, California 90071 

testimony, Rodriguez agreed to a limited interview in which he disclosed that he 
met and socialized with Girardi multiple times during his time with the State Bar.  

  
When asked about the nature of his interactions with Girardi during his time with 

the State Bar, Rodriguez stated that they were limited to social interactions at events 
like county bar dinners or political fundraisers, which he recalled happened a couple 
of times a year.  Rodriguez stated that he was not aware of any disciplinary case 
against Girardi pending at any time during which he was involved with the State 
Bar.  During the course of the interview, Rodriguez added that he had attended two 
holiday luncheons thrown by Girardi.  Another witness reported seeing Rodriguez 
at Girardi’s table at Morton’s, during which time Rodriguez and Girardi discussed 
Rodriguez possibly serving as the Public Defender.  In 2013, Rodriguez was 
interviewed by Girardi on his AM radio show (Champions of Justice) about 
Rodriguez serving as State Bar President.  Email correspondence suggests 
Rodriguez and Girardi may have been involved in jointly advocating for certain 
political candidates, but Rodriguez had no recollection of the discussions.   

  
When asked if he had flown on Girardi’s private jet during his time with the 

State Bar, Rodriguez confirmed that he took two trips on Girardi’s private plane 
while with State Bar—one within California and one to Washington, D.C.  Girardi 
was on the plane on both occasions, and Dunn was also on the plane on one 
occasion.  When asked if the plane rides were disclosed to the State Bar, Rodriguez 
stated that they were reported to the Executive Director’s Office, which did not 
express any concern.  The Executive Director at the time was Dunn, who, as noted 
above, was also on Girardi’s plane with Rodriguez.  During his sworn deposition, 
Dunn stated that as Executive Director, he reported to the State Bar’s Board, of 
which Rodriguez was a member and then President.  

  
Rodriguez knows Layton, Greenberg, Noonen, Dunn, Oehler, and Miller, but 

the full extent of Rodriguez’s relationships with these individuals is unknown.  One 
witness reported that Rodriguez had a close relationship with Layton, Dunn, and 
Miller.  It is unclear whether Rodriguez interacted with Girardi indirectly, for 
example through Layton.  For instance, Rodriguez denied having spoken to Girardi 
about the State Bar President position during his campaign for President, but 
acknowledged that he likely spoke to Layton about it.  Rodriguez could not recall 
the contents or context of his discussion with Layton about his campaign.  A former 
Board member and President of the Board recounted to MTO in 2014 and then to 
us that Rodriguez told him he should meet with Layton to discuss the role of State 
Bar President, and when the witness arrived at the meeting, Girardi was 
present.  Rodriguez told us that he did not know the nature of Layton’s relationship 
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with Ginudi, but that he recalled that Layton and Girardi were together at almost 
every social occasion. Rodriguez knew Layton before Rodriguez joined the State 
Bar. 

According to records we received from Girardi Keese, Rodriguez appears to 
have received three payments totaling $3,000 from Girardi Keese while with the 
State Bar, in the form of yearly $1,000 checks in 2011 , 2012, and 2013 (in December 
each time). 

Cheek History Report 
I Sorted By Check Number 

ActiVlty From: 1/1/2000 to 12131/2020 
Girardi & Keese (OIR) 

Bank Code: G Torrey General Account 
Check Check Vendor 
Number Data Number Neme Check Amount Check Type 

202638 12/21/2011 1RODUJI LUIS RODRIGUEZ 1,000.00 Manual 
209938 12/28/2012 1RODLUI LUIS RODRIGUEZ 1,000.00 AtJo 
216391 1212312013 1 ROD LUI LUIS RODRIGUEZ 1,000.00 Manual 

Bank O T olill! 3,000.00 
Report Totat 3,000.00 

Rodriguez did not disclose these payments to us during his interview and we were 
not aware of them at the time of his interview. Rodriguez was asked whether he 
witnessed Girardi, Girardi Keese, or any affiliate of Girardi offer anything of value 
to anyone affiliated with the State Bar, and answered no. After discovering the 
payments, we provided Rodriguez the opportunity to reinterview to explain the 
newly found evidence, but Rodriguez, through his attorney, declined to do so. 

We understand that all Board members were required to complete Forms 
700. However, the State Bar has no record of any Forms 700 completed by 
Rodriguez. 

We do not have any evidence that Rodriguez had any involvement in the 
handling or resolution of Girardi cases during his time on the Board. 

Other Reported Board Connections 

As discussed in Appendix A, prior to 2018, State Bar Board members were not 
appointed but instead were elected by licensed lawyers in California. We were 
informed that local committees of prominent lawyers would meet to consider 
candidates and make endorsements for these elections, and Girardi was a member 
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of the local committee in Los Angeles. We understand that many candidates would 
meet with the local committee to seek its endorsement for the election, like Miller 
did when he sought and obtained a Board seat in 2006. Emails from Dunn's time 
as Executive Director appear to indicate that Girardi remained involved in 
suggesting possible candidates for the State Bar's Board years later. 

It is unclear what, if any, influence Ginudi was able to exert on State Bai· cases 
against him through the relationships he built by participating the selection process 
for State Bai· Boai·d members, but one former OCTC investigator informed us that 
a Boai·d member may have intervened in a case against Girardi in the 1990s. This 
allegation, however, could not be conoborated. 

Accord •. n to the witness, an OCTC investigator emplo ed by the State Bai· in 
the 1990s, recalled workin on a case a ainst Girardi that believed wananted 
~estigator 
-later learned that th 
disci line. Accordin to the witness 

Girai·di was accompanied by a sitting member of the State 
Bai·'s Board of Governors (as the Board of Trustees was formerly known). The 
witness could not recall which member of the Boai·d it had been but believed it was 

which was unusual. According to the witness, although it was not said 
expressly, the witness got the impression that because of interest in the case from 
the Board and the CTC, the case would not result in public discipline to Girai·di. 

The OCTC attorney and■ supervisor were interviewed about this allegation, 
but neither recalled it having happened, and neither recalled ever having been 
approached by a CTC or member of the Boai·d about a specific case against 
Girardi. The CTC denied knowing that there were any cases against Girai·di 
pending during his time as CTC and stated that he could not have interceded in a 
case he was not awai·e existed. We ai·e not aware of any connections between the 
CTC at that time and Girardi. Acknowledging that the passage of time can affect 
people's memories and the availability of documentaiy evidence, we reviewed the 
case file and other available evidence, and asked interviewees about the allegation, 
but were not able to conoborate the OCTC investigator's allegation. 
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Connections with OCTC and the State Bar Court 

Over the years, Girardi appears to have had a number of connections to OCTC 
attorneys and investigators, as well as State Bar Court judges. We did not find 
evidence of any material connections between Girardi and any cun-ent OCTC 
employees or State Bar Court judges. 

Murray Greenberg 

Mun-ay Greenberg worked in OCTC from 1989 to Februa1y 2019.7 Greenberg 
stait ed as an investigator in 1989, then moved into an attorney position after passing 
the bar in 1989. He worked in several sections of OCTC during his tenure, including 
a managerial role in the Intake Unit. We deposed Greenberg in Januaiy 2023, but 
he asse1ted his Fifth Amendment right and refused to answer any questions about 
his work at the State Bar and his connections to Girardi and Layton and largely 
limited his testimony to his post-Bai· work. As such, the following discussion of 
Greenberg's connections to Girardi is based on documenta1y evidence and 
statements from other interviewees. 

Greenberg appears to have had a many-yeai· relationship with Girai·di, although 
we do not know how or exactly when they met. According to documentary 
evidence, Greenberg knew Girai·di by at least June 2008, as Greenberg presented a 
gift to Girai·di that Girardi described in June 2008 as "extraordinaiy" in a thank you 
note. 

Dear M un ay : 

I have never received su ch an extraordinary gift. It ' s massively appreciated. 

The nice thing about a gift like this is you think of the guy who gave it to you every time 
you look at i t 

With kind personal regards, 

THOMAS V. GIRARDI 
TV G/kc 

7 Due to funding issues, the State Bar terminated the majority of its staff from 1998-1999. 
To the extent individuals we discuss in this section were part of the 1998 tennination and 
then were rehired in 1999, om discussion of time spent at the Bar will not reflect that brief 
tennination. 
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Based on what we learned from a former Girardi Keese employee, it appears that 
Greenberg’s gift giving was not a single occurrence.  The former Girardi Keese 
employee told us that Greenberg gave her and Girardi bottles of wine maybe twice 
a year over many years. 

According to the sworn testimony of a witness who worked at Girardi Keese, 
Greenberg met with Girardi at the Girardi Keese offices while he was employed by 
the State Bar with some frequency.  The witness’s recollection was that Greenberg 
requested meetings with Girardi, then met with him for about 30 minutes per 
session.  The witness did not know what Girardi and Greenberg discussed during 
these closed-door meetings.  We also reviewed emails corroborating that Greenberg 
went to the Girardi Keese office while at the State Bar.  Additionally, we heard from 
a witness that Greenberg went to lunches with Girardi at Morton’s, and our 
understanding based on witness interviews is that Girardi paid for those lunches, 
although we do not have any evidence of that apart from witness testimony.  

While employed by the State Bar, Greenberg was invited to parties thrown by 
Girardi and Girardi Keese, such as Superbowl, Christmas, and Thanksgiving 
parties.  He was also included on Girardi Keese’s guest lists for events such as the 
Jack Webb Award dinner and the National Italian American Foundation West Coast 
Gala.  Emails also show that Greenberg accepted two tickets to an Adele concert in 
2016, and an unknown quantity of Santana tickets in January 2019 from Girardi 
Keese.  

We also have documentary evidence showing that Greenberg spoke on panels 
related to professional ethics and discipline at the annual CAALA convention in Las 
Vegas in 2007, 2009-2012 and 2018, and a former Girardi Keese employee told us 
that Greenberg attended the parties thrown by Girardi during the 
event.  Greenberg’s attendance of the 2014 CAALA convention was a source of 
conflict between Dunn and CTC 2, as discussed above.  

Additionally, emails collected from Girardi Keese suggest that Greenberg 
referred a legal malpractice case to Girardi Keese while he was still employed by 
the State Bar.  We do not know how he became aware of the case or if he received 
a referral fee from Girardi Keese.  

Greenberg submitted Forms 700 for several years.  He submitted a Form 700 on 
March 11, 2014 upon assuming the position of Senior Trial Counsel on January 11, 
2014 and additional Forms 700 as follows: March 2, 2015 (for the period January 
1-December 31, 2014); March 14, 2016 (for the period January 1-December 31,
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2015); March 21, 2017 (for the period Januruy I-December 31 , 2016); and March 
5, 2018 (for the period Januruy I-December 31, 2017). On Febmruy 13, 2019, 
Greenberg submitted a Form 700 upon his depruture from the State Bar. For all 
applicable years, we understand that Greenberg was required to disclose all "gifts, 
loans, and other payments received" from sources subject to the regulatory, permit, 
or licensing authority of the State Bar. On all of these Forms 700, Greenberg signed 
under penalty of perjury that he had no reportable interests. However, based on the 
documentary and testimonial evidence summru·ized above, it does not apperu· that 
this was accurate for all yeru·s. As described above, emails that we collected indicate 
that, at the very least, Greenberg accepted concert tickets from Girardi Keese in 
2016 and Januruy 2019. 

After he retired, Greenberg appears to have performed work that supported 
Girardi. In April 2019, two months after his retirement, Greenberg signed a sworn 
declru·ation on behalf of Girardi Keese related to the use of client funds, which 
included the statement, "[a]ll of their [Girru·di Keese's] conduct were [sic] in accord 
with the Rules of Professional Conduct of the State Bar and was totally 
appropriate." 

2 

3 

DECLARATION OF MURRAY GRRRNBERG 

I h<1vc spent 30-1/2 ycnrs with the Slate Bar with extens ive background in 

4 analyzing appropriate conduct of lawyers and evaluation of moral character, violations of 

5 honesty ond integrity and violation of trust account rules and regulations. 

6 My experience includes instructing Slate Rar \rial counsel on a wide variety of 

7 topics iuvolving clicnl trusl funds. There arc scYcral issues the Court should consider in 

8 this case: 

12 4. The low firm of Girardi\Kccsc followed tile Jaw by holding these funds in a 

13 trust account in which the small amounts of interest went ~\J lhe Slate Bor pursuant to Lhe 

14 Bus iness and Professions Code section 6211. 

I 5 5. All olithcir conducl were in accord with the Rules of Professional Conduct 

16 of the Stmc Bar und was totally appropriutc. 

17 6. Tiie law firm itself received no bcJ1cfil from any interest under fees or costs 

I 8 ad l'anced. 

19 7. Every penny went directly lo the State Rar according lo the ru les of the State 

20 'Bar regarding i merest on lawyers trust account~. 
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In 2020, Greenberg's name also appears 
Girardi' s behalf in an active State Bai· case. 

Greenberg did not invoke his Fifth 
Amendment rights with regards to this topic during his deposition. He testified that 
he was paid to consult with Girardi' s lawyer to assist "in providing some 
information with respect to the particulai· rule or procedure that was involved" in 
the State Bai· proceeding. 

We have evidence that Greenberg was involved in closin 
without ublic disci line, as well as cases opened against 
and . Given his connections to Girai·di, Greenberg had 
a conflict-of-interest, or, at the very least there were substantial doubts about his 
impartiality, and thus he should have recused himself from any involvement in the 
cases. We conclude that Greenberg's connections to Girai·di taint the handling of 
these cases and the discretionaiy decisions to close them without public discipline. 

In addition, we located evidence appeai·ing to show that Greenberg, while 
employed by the State Bar, had an off-the-record conversation with an attorney who 
represented Girardi in relation to Girardi' s disciplinaiy matters. Based on the 
evidence, it appears that Girardi's attorney discussed what appears to be a Girardi 
disciplinary case with Greenberg, and Greenberg reportedly told Girardi's attorney 
that the case should be dismissed. Girai·di' s attorney asked Greenberg to submit a 
declai·ation in support of Girardi, but Greenberg was unwilling to do so. The exact 
case that they were discussing is unknown, and based on our evidence, it does not 
appeai· that Greenberg was assigned to it. 

Below, we discuss a selection of cases related to Girai·di that Greenberg was 
involved in resolving. The following is based on materials from the State Bar's 
confidential case files unless otherwise noted. 

Case 11-18676. In May 2011 , the State Bar opened Case 11-18676 against 
Girardi based on ongoing litigation against Girai·di by former clients allegin 

riation of client funds. On June 7 2011 OCTC ATTORNEY 1 
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The case was not sent out to an SDTC. According to a terse memorandum in 
the file authored b Greenber and dated Jul 5, 2011, he stated that 

information available to us, it does not appear that a new State Bar case was ever 
opened regarding the facts underlying this case. 

When interviewed, OCTC ATTORNEY 1 did not recall working on this case 
and was unable to answer any of our questions about it. Greenberg refused to 
answer any questions about State Bar cases, asserting his Fifth Amendment 
right. Lazar opined that the case could have moved forward despite the ongoing 
court proceedings but that it was within the discretion of State Bar policies to close 
the case pending the outcome of a Superior Court action. 

The memorandum and closure are suspicious for multiple reasons. 

First, it is concerning to us that, even after the case was flagged as a 2201 conflict 
case, OCTC staff was involved in deciding to close the case. When we asked OCTC 
ATTORNEY 1 about this, ■said that the practice was to only send a case to an 
SDTC if OCTC staff thought there was something to prosecute. This may have 
been permissible under OCTC policy at the time, but even if permissible, to afford 
this level of discretion to a conflicted OCTC seems to violate the common law 
prohibition regarding government attorneys' conflicts-of-interest. The State Bar has 
since rectified this obvious policy flaw by revising Rule 2201 to prohibit OCTC 
staff from disposing of conflict cases. 
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Second, putting aside the general OCTC conflict, given Greenberg's connections 
to Girardi, he should have been recused fr~se in any capacity, 
and he should not have been authoring the-for the case. 

for the case. 

It is unclear why Gr~ 
and why he drafted the -

In 2012 and 2013, three complaints 
were mad ONDENT, all related to the same 
liti ation. 

, we discovered that Greenberg was 
communicating from his personal email address with ■ RESPONDENT about 
these cases. According to the case files, Greenberg was assigned to one of these 

, one of the cases was assigned to an attorney whom he supervised 
, and the other case was assigned to different OCTC personnel, although 

Greenberg still appears to have been involved in it in some capacity. 

In April 2013, ■ RESPONDENT emailed coITespondence related to the cases 
to Greenberg's personal email address. Greenberg-using his personal email-and 
■ RESPONDENT exchanged several emails about the State Bar matters. In one 
exchange, Greenberg forwarded materials from the complaining witness from his 
State Bar email account to his personal email account. He then sent those materials 
from his personal email account to■ RESPONDENT. We could not locate the 
coITespondence between■ RESPONDENT and Greenberg's personal email in 
the case files for these cases; we only had access to them from another source. 

We askeQ)II RESPONDENT about■ off-the-record communications with 
Greenberg. lll(admitted to knowing Greenberg and said that I believed I met 
Greenberg at a CAALA convention in Las Vegas. ,told us thatl did not recall 
how I got Greenberg's personal email or why: reached out to Greenberg 
personally. ■ RESPONDENT also denied that interactions with Greenberg 
were anything but standard responses to requests from Greenberg. Greenberg 
refused to answer any questions about cases he worked on at the State Bar, instead 
asserting his Fifth Amendment right against self-incrimination. 
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Regardless of the propriety of the closure of these cases (and Lazar opined that 
closure without disciplinary action was appropriate), Greenberg should not have 
been emailing ■ RESPONDENT about the State Bar cases using his personal 
email account. We asked Lazai· to review these case files and the con-espondence 
between Greenberg's personal email and■ RESPONDENT, and she explained as 
follows: 

It is not normal practice for OCTC employees: to provide any persons involved in a State Bar 
matter personal contact information for a State Bar employee. Not only does this create a risk of 
inadvertent disclosur,e of confidential State Bar information; but also could create a risk to the 
safety of a State Bar employee through actions taken by a disgruntled Respondent or 
complainant. OCTC cannot require all staff attorneys to limit the information on the State Bar's 
website in the attorney's personal profile to a State Bar email address, but disdosure of such 
information on a professional website would certainly be ill-advised. 
How and why Respondent was provided with Gr-eenberg 's private email is not disclosed in the 
file. By engaging in these communications, it could have resulted in confidential information 
being accidently accessed by a hack to Greenberg's private server or some other individual not 
employed by the State Bar having access to this email account. More troubling is the fact that 
there is no way of knowing whether or not th-ere were additional emails between Respondent and 
Greenberg that were not copied and put into the State Bar file. 

An additional area of concern is the appearance of bias in favor of the Respondent due to the fact 
that only Respondent was provided with Greenberg's personal email information whereas none 
of tbe complainants involved in the matter were treated similarly. 

~ Durin the investi ation, we received information about a 
State Bai· case against a MEMBER that was closed without 
any public discipline under questionable circumstances. 
MEMBER is still a licensed attorney in California. 

The Reporting Witness told us that then received a telephone 
TC attorney prosecuting the case, who said that even though the 

MEMBER had clearly lied to the State Bar during the 
investigation, the OCTC attorney was closing the case without any public discipline 
because-felt pressured to do so by■ supervisor. The case was then closed. 
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The OCTC attorney told us that Greenberg directed to "settle" the 
case or "make it go away." The OCTC attorney said this was the only ease l ever 
worked on where a supervisor directed■ to close a case in this manner. 

Greenber 's involvement in the case is confirmed in the case file 

As noted, we were not able to ask Greenberg about this case 
because he invoked his Fifth Amendment right against self-incrimination. 

The MEMBER was interviewed but disclaimed ain 
memory of the case, which attributed to a medical issue affecting mem01y. 
stated thatl has not been close with Girardi for twenty years and had no knowledge 
of Ginudi' s connections to the State Bar or of any use of those connections to help 
in resolving■ case. 

Thomas Layton 

Thomas Layton started working at the State Bai- in 1999 as an investigator in 
OCTC. As discussed above, CTC 2 told us that Executive Director Dunn moved 
Layton into the Executive Director 's Office in 2013 after she planned to give Layton 
a negative perf01mance review. Layton worked there until he was placed on leave 
in November 2014 and te1minated in 2015. He reported to Dunn, and while his 
official title was Public Info1mation Officer, Layton told us that was not his position. 
Instead, he considered himself to be the "law enforcement and judicial liaison." 
Layton reportedly had frequent lunches with Girardi during the work week at 
Girardi's favorite restaurants. He was also reportedly spotted with regularity at 
Girardi Keese's offices, where he was known by many people who worked there. 

Girardi's connections to Layton mn deep and wide. One witness described them 
as having a "father-son relationship," although Layton disputed that 
characterization. Girardi is the godfather to one of Layton's children and employed 
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another two of them while Layton worked at the State Bar.  Layton admitted to us 
in a sworn deposition that Girardi was his “very good friend.”  Layton told us that 
he has known Girardi for about 20 years and that he met him while he was doing 
law enforcement endorsements for judicial and political positions.9  Layton stated 
that he last spoke to Girardi just a few days before we deposed him in December 
2022. 

In addition to the personal connections, we found evidence indicating that 
Girardi, through his law firm, gave Layton and his family cash and things of value 
that we estimate total over a million dollars.  This includes cash as well as payment 
for Layton’s expenses, car payments, travel, legal representation, and meals.  Many 
of these benefits were provided to Layton while he worked at the State Bar.  Below 
is a summary of notable things of value that Girardi provided Layton during his 
State Bar employment. 

 Payments to Layton and His Wife.  Based upon Girardi Keese financial
records, the firm paid Layton and his wife over $600,000 while he was
employed by the State Bar.  Some of these payments were made out to
Layton directly, some to his wife, and the bulk to an entity named “Layton
& Layton,” which Layton stated was a business he and his wife had.

o Payments to Layton.  Girardi Keese records show the firm paying Layton
over $153,000 from 2005-2011, while he was employed by the State Bar
and working in OCTC.  Layton also appears to have received a 1099 tax
form from Girardi Keese in 2009 for $50,000 paid to him during the
year.  When asked about these payments and the 1099 from Girardi
Keese, Layton had no explanation.  For example, when asked why he
received a check for $25,000 from Girardi in 2006, Layton said that he
did not know why.

9 Before working at the State Bar, Layton was a Sheriff’s Deputy for Los Angeles County. 
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Check History Report 
Sorted By Check Number 
Activity From: 1/1/2000 to 12131/2020 

Bank Codi.: A Operadng • CBB 11004510312 
Check Check Vendor 
Numbor Dato Number Nem& 

122513 10/412005 1LAYTON THOMAS LAYTON 
125499 An /2006 1LAYTON THOMAS LAYTON 
129177 11/16/2006 1LAYTON THOMAS LAYTON 
193669 8/30/2007 HAYTON THOMAS LAYTON 
137368 4/1612008 1LAYTON THOMAS LAYTON 
138065 5/19/2008 HAYTON THOMAS LAYTON 
138065 6/19/2008 1LAYTON THOMAS LAYTON 
1416S7 12/8/2008 1LAYTON THOMAS LAYTON 
144238 4/23/2009 1lAYTON THOMAS LAYTON 
149785 1m2010 HAYTON THOMAS LAYTON 
154819 9/10/2010 1LAYTON THOMAS LAYTON 
159240 411812011 1LAYTON THOMAS 1.A YTON 
159303 4/2112011 1LAYTON THOMAS LAYTON 

BankATo1zll: 

Girardi & Keese (GIR) 

Check Amount Check Type 

1,100.00 Manual 
660.80 Menuel 

60,000.00 Manual 
1,800.06 Menuel 

25,000.00 Manuel 
n1.oo Manuel 
n1.00- Revcrsnl 

s,000.00 Manual 
50,000.00 Manuel 

1.352.28 Manual 
3,373.07 Menuel 

10.000.00 Manual 
5,000.00 Manual 

153,288.21 

o Payments to Rose Layton. Girardi Keese records show Layton's wife, 
Rose Layton, a professor of clinical accounting, being paid $2,500 by 
Girardi Keese in 2002 (while Layton was working in OCTC) and $4,800 
in 2013 (while Layton was working in the Executive Director's 
Office). We asked Rose Layton about these payments, and she could not 
provide any details regarding them, other than saying that she performed 
services for Girardi Keese that may have included research. 

Check History Report 
Sorted By Check Number 
Actlvily From: 1/1/20()0 to 12/31/2020 

Girardi & Keese (GIR) 

eank Code: A Operating- C68 II004510312 
Chock Check Vendor 
Number Date Number Name Chock Amount Ch&ckType 

100431 5/28/2002 3LAYTON PROF. ROSE LAYTON 2,500.00 Manual 
Bank A Total: 2,500.00 

~ 

Check History Report 
Sorted By Check Number 
Activity From: 1/1(2000 to 12/31/2020 

Girardi & Keese (GIR 

Bank Codo: G Torrey Oenerel Account 
Check Choc:k vondor 
Number Dato Number Nemo Chock Amo unt ChOclC TYpo 

213810 8/1/2013 3lAYTON ROSE LAYTON 4,800.00 Ma nual 
~ 
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o Payments to Layton & Layton.  According to Girardi Keese financial
records, the firm paid “Layton & Layton”10 $461,000 from 2006 to 2014
(all while Layton was working for the State Bar, with most of that money
being paid while Layton was working in OCTC).  During his deposition,
Layton admitted that he was associated with “Layton & Layton.”  He told
us that “Layton & Layton” provided services to Girardi Keese, mainly
consulting services provided by his wife.  However, he did not provide
details of the type of services provided by Layton & Layton to Girardi
Keese, and told us that he did not know what the services were.

We also asked Rose Layton in a sworn deposition about the payments,
and she claimed they were for unspecified services “related to the
financial aspects of a case” that she provided to Girardi Keese, but told
us that she could not give any examples of what this meant.  When asked
further, she said that the general type of work she did was “[p]robably
defining things like – maybe like what potential income would be.”  She
said she had no documentary evidence of the services she provided —no
checks, no contracts, no tax forms, no correspondence, and no work
product. She told us that she communicated orally with Girardi and hand-
delivered her work product to him.

10 We have not found any public record of a business called “Layton & Layton.”  Rose 
Layton told us that Layton & Layton was a fictitious business name registered in Los 
Angeles County, and that there was no official entity with that name. 
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Check History Report 
Sorted By Check Number 
Activity From: 1/1/2000 to 12/31/2020 

_Bank Coda: A Opera\lng • CBB 110045/0312 
Check Check Vendor 
Number Date Number Name 

126357 S/28/2006 :31.AYLAY LAYTON & LAYTON 
126357 5/26/2006 31.AYLAY LAYTON & LAYTON 
126358 5/26/2006 3LAYLAY LAYTON & LAYTON 
126358 5/26/WOG 31.AYLAY LAYTON & LAYTON 
126434 6t112C06 31.AYLAY LAYTON & LAYTON 
126435 6/1/2C06 3LAYLAY LAYTON & LAYTON 
126509 8/512006 31.AYLAY LAYTON & LAYTON 
126510 6l512C06 3LAYLAY LAYTON & LAYTON 
127676 8/412006 31.AYLAY LAYTON & LAYTON 
128066 9/512006 31.AYLAY LAYTON & LAYTON 
128502 10/2/2006 31.AYLAY LAYTON & LAYTON 
129069 11/6/2006 31.AYLAY LAYTON & LAYTON 
131604 4/18/2001 3LAYLAY LAYTON & LAYTON 
132075 5/22/"&l07 3l.AYLAY LAYTON & LAYTON 
132312 61712007 31.AYLAY LAYTON & LAYTON 
138821 7/812008 31.AYLAY LAYTON & LAYTON 
139676 8/22/2008 3LAYLAY LAYTON & LAYTON 
139677 8/22/2008 31.AYLAY LAYTON & LAYTON 
140571 ' 10/9/2008 3LAYl.AY LAYTON & LAYTON 
150030 1/25/2010 31.AYLAY LAYTON & LAYTON 

Bank A Total : 

Check History Report 
Sorted By Check Number 
Activity From: 1/112000 to 12/31/2020 

, Bank Code: G Torrey General Account 
Check CMck Vend« 
Number Oat,. Number Name 

204738 4/Q/2012 3LAYLAY LAYTON & LAYTON 
211842 4112/2013 3LAYLAY LAYTON & LAYTON 
216829 1/1712014 31.AYLAY LAYTON 8 LAYTON 
300643 411112014 3LAYLAY LAYTON & LAYTON 

Bank G Total: 

Report To1al: 

Girardi & Keese (GIR) 

Chock Amount Check Typo 

25,000.00 Menuel 
25,000.00- Reversal 
25,000.00 Manual 
25,000.QO. Reversal 
25,000.00 Menuel 
25,000.00 Menuel 
25,000.00 Manus! 
25 ,000.00 Manu.,I 
25,000.()() Menus! 
25,000.00 Manuel 
26,000.00 Ment.18I 
25,000.00 Manuel 
2M00.OO Manual 
25,01)0.00 Manual 
25,000.00 Manual 
11 ,000.00 Manuel 
25,000.00 ManUlll 
25,000.00 Manuel 
15,000.00 Menuel 
30,000.00 Manuel 
3&1,000,00 

Gira rd i & Keese (GIR) 

Chock Amount Check Type 

50,000.00 Manulll 
10,000.00 Manual 
5,000.00 Manual 

15,000.00 Manual 

80,000.00 

461,000.00 

■ Girardi Keese Credit Card. In 2011 , it appeal'S that Girardi provided 
Layton with a Girardi Keese American Express card. An internal Girardi 
Keese email suggests that, when Layton first received the card, he reportedly 
asked to have the name "Girardi Keese" removed from the face of the card. 

Sent: Tue May 10 18:07: 19 20 11 
Subject: I got Tom Layton's Gold Card. He j ust told me it cannot have GK on the card. Has to have only his 
name. Can you take care of iL and I'll give you the card we received. 

Layton admitted to us that he did not disclose that he had a Girardi Keese 
credit card to the State Bar. His wife claimed that she did not recall Layton 
having a Girardi Keese credit card. During the first day of his deposition, 
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Layton admitted to receiving a Girardi Keese credit card and using it for 
personal expenses.  He further admitted that he did not pay the bills for the 
card, as the statements went directly to Girardi Keese.  When asked to explain 
why Girardi Keese was paying for his personal expenses, he initially refused 
to answer, claiming “attorney-client privilege.”  Layton also said Girardi 
gave him the card as part of a confidential oral agreement with Girardi to 
resolve a dispute they had. 

 
After we threatened to seek court intervention to compel answers to these 
questions, Layton agreed to come back for a second day of testimony.   
During this second day of testimony, Layton told us that he used the credit 
card for expenses related to driving Girardi, such as gas and meals.  Layton 
vacillated between telling us that the reason he had the card was to cover 
Girardi-related expenses, and that Girardi gave him the card to compensate 
him for the mishandling of several personal legal matters.  Layton’s 
testimony on this point was difficult to understand. 

 
We were unable to determine how much Layton charged to his Girardi Keese 
credit card while he was employed by the State Bar.  In the Girardi Keese 
Chapter 7 Trustee’s lawsuit against Layton, the Trustee alleges that Layton 
charged $315,114 on his Girardi Keese American Express card between 
December 18, 2013 and December 18, 2020, which is approximately $45,000 
a year. 

  
 Car Payments.  Layton testified that Girardi paid for Layton’s leased cars 

(a BMW X5, a BMW 5 Series, and a Cadillac Escalade), during a time period 
including when Layton was employed by the State Bar and after he was 
terminated.  While Layton was unable to pinpoint the year Girardi started 
making his car payments, we have documentary evidence suggesting Girardi 
Keese was making payments in 2011.  In his first day of testimony, Layton 
said Girardi paid for his cars pursuant to his confidential, oral agreement with 
Girardi.  In his second day of testimony, Layton said Girardi paid for his cars 
because Layton was driving him around.  Layton admitted Girardi had a 
personal driver during this time, and that he was employed at the State Bar 
for some of this time.  When asked, Layton’s wife said that she did not know 
Girardi paid for Layton’s cars. 

  
 Loan Guarantee and Payments.  Girardi guaranteed a bank loan of 

$150,000 to Layton and, through his law firm, made payments on the 
loan.  Based on documents we obtained, Girardi appears to have guaranteed 
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the loan for Layton in 2006, and Girardi Keese seems to have made payments 
on the loan in at least 2007, 2011, 2012, and 2013.  Layton admitted that 
Girardi guaranteed the loan and made payments on the loan, and he told us 
that the loan was for home renovations.  Layton alternated between asserting 
that Girardi cosigned the loan as part of the confidential agreement that he 
could not discuss, and that Girardi made payments on the loan because the 
bank did “something wrong.”  Either way, Layton admitted that Girardi made 
payments on the loan. 

 Meals.  Layton ate with Girardi at restaurants such as Morton’s, The Palm,
and the Jonathan Club, and Layton admitted that Girardi paid for most of
these meals.  We have emails showing that on a couple of occasions Layton
paid for meals and then was reimbursed from Girardi and/or Girardi Keese,
although Layton told us that he did not remember that occurring.  Further,
one witness reported to us that Layton had “signing authority” for Girardi at
Morton’s, so he could sign the bill, which would be added to Girardi’s tab.
We were not able to corroborate this account.

 Private Jet Flights.  Layton flew on Girardi’s private jet while he worked at
the State Bar.  We have documentary evidence suggesting that Layton flew
on Girardi’s private jet in at least 2012, 2013, and 2014.  For at least one of
these flights, it appears Layton intended to or did actually bring family
members.  During his deposition, Layton admitted to flying on Girardi’s jet,
and he admitted that it was “possible” that he flew on Girardi’s private jet to
and from the CAALA conventions in Las Vegas.  Layton also admitted that
he did not pay for any portion of his flights on Girardi’s private jet.

 Other Travel Expenses.  Girardi also appears to have paid for some of
Layton’s personal travel.  For example, in 2011 (while Layton was working
for OCTC), it appears that Girardi paid for four rooms for Layton at the
Orleans hotel in Las Vegas, and a witness reported to us that this was a trip
that Layton took with his parents.  The witness informed us that Girardi was
not involved in this trip, other than by paying for the accommodations.  This
witness also informed us that Girardi paid for other personal trips for Layton,
and Layton admitted to this in his deposition.

 Tickets.  Layton accepted tickets from Girardi Keese for box seats at the
Staples Center for events such as concerts and sports games.  During his
interview, Layton admitted to accepting tickets to a “few” Lakers and
Clippers games.  A witness reported seeing Layton and his son in the Girardi
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Keese box during an NBA game in 2001.  In 2013, Layton emailed Girardi’s 
assistant to request ten Rose Parade bleacher seats for his entire family.  We 
do not have evidence of whether Girardi agreed to this request.  

 Charitable Contributions.  Additionally, Layton appears to have asked
Girardi Keese for money to support his participation in charity golf
tournaments or attendance at charity dinners.  In 2012, Layton forwarded
Girardi’s assistant an email regarding information concerning a charity
dinner and wrote, “Can I get some $$.”

Similarly, in 2013, Layton forwarded a flyer for a golf tournament to 
Girardi’s assistant, writing “For abused kids. Can I get $1,500.”  

From: Thomas Layton 
Sent: Wed, 27 Nov 201311 :44:22 ~0800 
To: <■■■@girardikeese.com> 

My on - is marching in the Ro c Parade. Can we get 1.0 bleacher as. ort whole f: mily would li ke 
10 watch 

lfirom, "li;tylon , ·ome5''" <Thome:5-J .. a ylor'i@c;alb;;;u.c~.gov> 
Sient: Wedl , 10i ,Oct 2012 1-8;4.2 :~2 +00001 

1'o: <- ,gi'irardikeese.com~ 
S u'lbjoot: FW: Re 11Ve Forces Bum u - m ual Rcoognili:on Di ·, er • October 2:o,, :2012 • Qilifomi 

o: rnBroe Ceslno, 
AU hme-nt91: 
• IR B -Sponsof' Broe . re 2-01:2.pdf (745 kb} 

fn,,m : "Layton 'Thomas'" <Thar7fllas .. Lat'/ton@calba .. ca.gov> 

Se~~ 3 00 :13 :18 •0000 , . 
To, 111111111111111~gir_ rd1lke,a~. __ 
Su'bl · cl: FW: goltl !lryer 
Atrcihm - rnts,: 
• 2013 SVB Gon Iyer.pd! (3'31 hb) 

for abu ect kids. c n I get . 1.s.O0 



HALPERN MAY YBARRA GELBERG LLP 
ATTORNEY-CLIENT PRIVILEGED/CONFIDENTIAL 
ATTORNEY WORK PRODUCT 

PRIVILEGED / WORK PRODUCT 52 | P a g e

www.halpernmay.com 
550 South Hope Street | Suite 2330 | Los Angeles, California 90071 

 Parties.  Layton was invited to and attended many Girardi Keese parties, as
well as parties that were thrown by Girardi.  These parties included
Christmas, Thanksgiving, and Fourth of July parties, as well as Superbowl
parties.  Some of these parties were “destination events,” and Layton
admitted to attending at least one such party in Mexico that Girardi paid
for.  Layton was also asked by Girardi Keese to review a Christmas party
guest list for “additions or subtractions” to the list, which included State Bar
employees Greenberg, Platel, and Dunn.

 Gifts.  Layton admitted to receiving birthday and Christmas presents from
Girardi but denied recalling any specific presents.  According to another
witness, Layton received a gift basket from Girardi for one Christmas that
included a first edition book.

 Legal Representation.  Girardi Keese represented Layton in four legal
matters while he worked at the State Bar.  We were aware of two of these
matters, as they were publicly filed, but the other two matters do not appear
to have become public, and Layton refused to disclose any further details
about them.  Layton informed us that Girardi Keese handled the four matters
on contingency.

On top of the financial ties, Layton had additional connections to Girardi and 
Girardi Keese.   

 Girardi Keese’s Employment of Layton’s Children.  Girardi Keese
employed two of Layton’s children while he worked at the State Bar.

 Layton’s Involvement with Girardi Keese.  Layton spent time at the
Girardi Keese office while he was working at the State Bar.

Evidence shows that Layton referred cases to Girardi Keese while he was
working at the State Bar, and he may have learned about at least some of
these cases from information obtained on the job.  During his deposition,
Layton admitted to referring one case to Girardi Keese, but documentary
evidence suggests that he referred at least three.  Layton denied receiving any
referral fees from Girardi Keese.

Layton also appears to have assisted Girardi Keese attorneys with litigation
while he was working at the State Bar.  Girardi Keese emails show that
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Layton helped Girardi Keese attorneys procure law enforcement reports for 
their cases on more than one occasion.   
 
Layton also appears to have helped Girardi Keese attorneys or employees 
with personal issues.  As an example, in 2010, a Girardi Keese employee 
asked Layton for help with a traffic ticket “for no license plate and no proof 
of insurance,” as well as a ticket for being on his cell phone.  Layton said in 
response, “I will take care of it.”  Another Girardi Keese employee told us 
that she got a traffic ticket, and Girardi told her to “tell Layton, he can fix it 
for you.”  

  
 Introduction of Girardi to State Bar Employees.  As part of our 

investigation, we heard from witnesses that Layton introduced Girardi to 
State Bar employees and invited people to events or meals with Girardi.  For 
example, former CTC Mike Nisperos, discussed in further detail below, 
reported to us that he met Girardi through Layton.  Former State Bar 
investigator Noonen told us that he met Girardi through Layton, although 
Layton denied ever seeing Noonen and Girardi together. 

 
In addition, certain former State Bar employees reported to us that Layton 
approached them with offers of career help.  CTC 2 reported to us that after 
she was appointed to a higher-profile position, Layton came into her office 
and stated that Girardi was asking about her and wanted to know what her 
career aspirations were, implying that he could help her.  Layton denied that 
this occurred during his deposition.  Former CTC Nisperos also reported that 
Layton offered Girardi’s assistance to advance his career, and Girardi in fact 
made a donation to Nisperos’ judicial campaign thereafter.  Layton denied 
offering Girardi’s assistance with a judicial campaign to Nisperos. 

  
In 2014, Layton was required to submit a Form 700.  Specifically, Layton was 

required to disclose all “gifts, loans, and other payments received” from sources 
subject to the regulatory, permit, or licensing authority of the State Bar.11  On April 
11, 2014, Layton signed, under penalty of perjury, a Form 700 for the period of 
January 1-December 31, 2013, stating that he did not have anything to report.  
However, it appears that this was not accurate, as we have evidence that, in 2013, 
Layton received at least the following items from Girardi and/or Girardi Keese: 

 
11  Layton was required to report “the name and address of each source of income 
aggregating five hundred dollars ($500) or more in value, or fifty ($50) or more in value if 
the income was a gift.” 
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payments of $10,400; car payments of approximately $12,000; payment of credit 
card expenses; at least three flights on Girardi's private jet; at least four concert 
tickets; and many meals. 12 

When he started at the State Bar in 1999, Layton also signed a "Conflict of 
Interest Disclosure" form, which provided as follows: 

CONFLICT OY INTERE ~ : 
. I>ISCLOSURE " , . 

While working f or the S t ate Bar, . I am also w-o:c-Jd:ng {wi,t_h,. or 
· · · ) for ·the f. oll ow. ing irtdi.vidu. al-s ·:o_r enti ties: wit~out _cqmpensation 

I agr e e that-, as a co~dit ipn of my einp.Loyttte1:1c·,· 'I . w~ll Uf_)date 
thi's disclosure and provide the n~e of any oth~r ent itie_s or 
individuals r begin to work for while I am working for the State . 
Bar. 

I understand t hat, due to potential or-actual conflicts of 
.i nterest, · as determined tbe .State Bar, my -work for the Stat e 
Bar may · imited in the discretion of the St ate 
Bar. · 

We did not find any evidence that Layton ever amended this disclosure to disclose 
any work he performed for Girardi or Girardi Keese while employed by the State 
Bar. 

Though Layton was an OCTC investigator from 1999 to 2013, we did not find 
any evidence that he was assigned to any Girardi cases. There was nothing in case 
files or other documents indicating Layton worked on any Girardi cases, and 
interviewees did not recall Layton officially handling any Girardi cases. During his 
deposition, Layton testified he did not work on any Girardi cases. Layton also 
testified that he did not take any actions to influence the resolution of a Girardi case 
or any State Bar case against other Girardi Keese attorneys. He further testified that 
he did not recall doing anything to influence resolution of a State Bar case against 

12 During his deposition, Layton acknowledged that the signature on this Fo1m 700 
appeared to be his, but he denied having any memo1y of completing the fo1m. 
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an attorney at Girardi’s request.  As such, we cannot establish that Layton’s 
connections to Girardi directly influenced the outcome of any Girardi case.  

Although we could not find any direct evidence of Layton’s involvement on a 
particular Girardi case, there is evidence suggesting that he assisted Girardi in other 
ways with disciplinary matters. 

 Communications Regarding Complaints About 
Attorneys.  A former OCTC employee told us that one of Girardi’s attorneys
for State Bar cases faxed Girardi’s responses to State Bar correspondence to
Layton, even though Layton was not assigned to the matters.  We did not find
direct evidence corroborating this statement, but we did find evidence of a

 attorney sending information about  pending State Bar case
to Layton’s personal email address, which does somewhat corroborate the
witness’s statement.  At the time this email was sent, Layton was working in
the Executive Director’s Office, not in OCTC, so he was not assigned to the
case.  In other words, it does not appear that there was any legitimate reason
for the  attorney to forward the correspondence to him.  We
asked Layton about this incident, and he stated that he did not recall receiving
this information, and he did not know why the  attorney sent
him the case information.  He further asserted that he did not help the 

 attorney “in any way” and that there was “nothing [he] could do.”

Given the evidence that Layton was communicating with attorneys about
pending Girardi and  cases while employed at the State Bar, we
cannot rule out the possibility that Layton was providing some sort of
assistance to Girardi and  in the handling of disciplinary
matters.  That said, we were unable to establish what that assistance may
have actually been.

 Girardi’s Use of Layton to Dissuade Complaints and Resolve Disputes.
We received a report suggesting that Layton helped Girardi to deter people
from even filing complaints with the State Bar in the first place.  We were
contacted by an attorney witness regarding  interaction with Girardi, and
the witness’s account of this interaction follows.  The witness was co-counsel
with Girardi and believed that he was inflating his costs to skim money from
settlements.  The witness demanded an accounting and informed Girardi that

would make a complaint to the State Bar if he did not provide such an
accounting.  After made this demand, Girardi invited the witness to lunch
at Morton’s in Downtown Los Angeles.  After the witness arrived at the

===---------
■ 

- -

■ 

■ ■ 



HALPERN MAY YBARRA GELBERG LLP 
ATTORNEY-CLIENT PRIVILEGED/CONFIDENTIAL 
ATTORNEY WORK PRODUCT 

restaurant, Layton joined The witness had never met Layton before and 
did not know he would be attending the lunch. Girardi then arrived and 
introduced Layton as his good friend who was the head of ethics 
investigations at the State Bar. Layton told the witness that Girardi was 
godfather to one of his children. 13 Girardi further-and falsely-told the 
witness that all State Bar complaints went through Layton. 

The witness felt intimidated and threatened by this encounter, and ■ 
believed that it was intended to deter■ from filing a State Bar complaint 
against Ginudi. The witness did not ultimately receive the accounting from 
Girardi, and ■did not file a State Bar complaint against him. During his 
sworn deposition, we asked Layton whether he ever spoke to an attorney who 
was threatening to file a complaint against Girardi before ■filed it, and 
Layton responded that he did not believe so. 

We also found evidence that Girardi referenced his connections with La 
to tr to ain credibili in liti ation. In 2014 

While being deposed in the 
underlying litigation, Ginudi stated that he thought the State Bar would agree 
with his opinion regarding the ethicality of certain actions, and when 
questioned further as to the basis for that belief, Girardi stated that he had 
given a hypothetical set of facts to Layton after "bump[ing] into him at some 
bar event." When asked ifhe had any other "dealings" with Layton, Girardi 
stated "no," which was clearly false. 14 

13 Layton confomed at his deposition that Girardi was the godfather to his child. The fact 
that this witness knew this intimate detail regarding Layton's and Girardi's relationship 
hel s to conoborate the witness's account of events. 
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O H.ive you hlld other dealing:;; with Mr. l,~yton? 

A No. 

0 Why did you call Mr. Layton? 

A Oh, ! just bumped into him at same b~r evenc. 

Q You knew him from before? 

A Oh, I knew who he is, sure. 

• Layton Reportedly Met with Attorney About State Bar Investigation at 
Girardi's Request. Further, Girardi also appeal"S to have used his 
connection to Layton to give the impression to attorneys outside of Girardi 
Keese that he had the ability to influence the resolution of State Bar 
cases. An attorney ("ATTORNEY A") who did not work at Girardi Keese 
but knew Girardi from reviousl actin as co-counsel, was the subject of 
client com laints made to the State Bar 
in . According to ATTORNEY A, ad the impression that 
the State Bar was taking the complaints agains very seriously and 
intended to pursue disciplinary charges against 

ATTORNEY A told us that I was concerned about how this would affect 
■ career, so I discussed the State Bar cases with another attorney, who 
recommended that I contact Girai·di, as he was known to have a good 
relationship with the State Bai·. ATTORNEY A reported thatl then met in­
person with Girardi and Layton to discuss the State Bar cases. Girai·di 
reportedly asked ATTORNEY A to describe the State Bar cases against■ 
and to identify the State Bar personnel assigned to them. Although Layton 
was in the room, he reportedly did not speak dming the meeting and Girardi 
did not identify him a State Bar employee. 

After the Girardi/Layton meeting, ATTORNEY A reported that the State Bar 
seemingly changed its position and offered to stipulate with ATTORNEY A 
to resolve the cases on more favorable terms to which ATTORNEY A 

, however, that either Girai·di or Layton was involved in the 
or took any other steps to help ATTORNEY A get a favorable 

resolution of the cases. We interviewed several of the OCTC attorneys who 
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handled the case, but all denied that Girardi or Layton had any involvement 
or influence. 

Donald Miles 

Donald Miles was a State Bar Court judge from 2006 to 2018.  He was appointed 
to that position by Governor Arnold Schwarzenegger for a six-year term, and he 
was then reappointed in 2012 by Governor Jerry Brown.  Miles served as a judge in 
the hearing department of the State Bar Court.  

A witness reported that Layton may have been involved in Miles’s 
reappointment.  In a sworn deposition, Miles stated that he did not remember 
speaking to Layton about his appointment or reappointment. Miles also disclaimed 
any knowledge of involvement by Girardi in his reappointment as a State Bar Court 
judge.  We were unable to corroborate the report. 

Miles does appear to have had ties to Layton and Girardi while he was on the 
State Bar Court bench.  Miles admitted to having conversations with Layton while 
on the bench, and he explained that they did a number of “programs together” and 
that their sons went to college together.  He further stated that he was “sure” that 
some of the conversations he had with Layton involved Girardi as a topic.  Miles 
also admitted that he knew Girardi, and he interacted with him at Bar events.   

Miles told us that he was a panelist at the CAALA convention several times, and 
that he attended the Girardi Keese party during the conventions.  After further 
questioning about Girardi’s parties, Miles stated that he remembered attending one 
additional party, a Girardi Keese Superbowl party.  He said that he did not recall 
attending any other Girardi or Girardi Keese parties.  Documentary evidence 
confirms that Miles was a panelist at the CAALA convention in at least 2009 and 
2011-2014.  There is no evidence that Miles flew on Girardi’s private jet to the 
CAALA convention, and Miles denied doing so during his 
deposition.  Additionally, a Girardi Keese guest list indicates that “Judge Don 
Miles” RSVPed “yes” to the Girardi Keese Christmas Eve luncheon in 2013 (which 
Layton, Dunn, and Rodriguez also apparently RSVPed “yes” for).  “Don Miles,” 
who we presume to be the Miles we are discussing, was included on Girardi Keese’s 
guest lists for the 2013 Jack Webb Award dinner and the 2016 Inner City Law 
Center luncheon.  

Miles completed Forms 700 in at least 2012 (for the period January 1-December 
31, 2011), 2014 (for the period January 1-December 31, 2013), 2015 (for the period 
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January I-December 31, 2014), 2017 (for the period Januruy I-December 31, 2016), 
and 2018 (for the period Januruy 1, 2017-October 31 , 2017). Miles disclosed that 
CAALA reimbursed him for travel expenses for the convention in Las Vegas in 
2014 ($532) and 2013 ($500), but otheiwise did not disclose any gifts, travel 
payments, advances, or reimbursements. We do not have any evidence suggesting 
that Miles omitted any gifts or things of value received from Girardi or Girardi 
Keese on his F01ms 700. 

Miles did not work on any filed Girardi cases as a State Bar Comt judge because 
the State Bar never filed any cases against Girardi while Miles was on the 
bench. However, Miles did handle a re-filin Girardi matter 

iles told us that Layton did not have any ex parte communications about 
the case with Girru·di, and that Layton did not communicate with him about the case. 

When asked whether he had a conflict-of-interest that should have precluded 
him from handling _ , Miles stated that he did not, because "[his] 
relationship with Girardi was not such that within the purview of being a conflict of 
interest that would require [him] to disclose a relationship or ~ 
him from handlin it so he had no sense of any conflict." -

We thus did not find any evidence that 
Miles used his position to benefit Girardi. We also note that, in further discussion, 
he explained that there was no formal process or policy if a State Bar Comt judge 
knew the complainant or respondent in a particular case. 

Mike Nisperos 

Mike Nisperos joined the State Bar as CTC in March 2001 and left the office in 
2005. In May 2001 , Nisperos and his son attended an NBA semifinals playoff game 
with free tickets provided to them by Layton. Nisperos told us that when he and his 
son arrived at the basketball game, Girru·di and other guests, including Layton and 
his son, were in attendance. Nisperos told us that at that point, he learned that the 
tickets had been provided by Girardi, and he socialized with Girru·di at the 
game. Nisperos told us that he did not rep01t his receipt of the tickets, on a Form 
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700 or otherwise, and did not include Girardi in his conflicts-of-interest information 
provided to the State Bar thereafter.  

When asked about the decision not to identify Girardi on his personal conflicts-
of-interest list, Nisperos stated that he was not included because he met Girardi after 
the list was created, and the list was not updated.  Nisperos explained that he would 
have considered Girardi a conflict “in his head” because of the basketball tickets, 
and would have referred cases against Girardi to a different prosecutor such as his 
deputy if any crossed his desk.  Nisperos said he was not familiar with any formal 
process regarding how to handle cases when a conflict-of-interest existed, but would 
have left the decision regarding how to proceed to his deputy.   

Nisperos reported meeting with Girardi personally for a second time in 2005, 
shortly before Nisperos left the State Bar.  Nisperos said that he and Girardi met 
over breakfast so that Nisperos could thank Girardi for Girardi’s offer of assistance 
to Nisperos, which Nisperos said had been previously communicated to him by 
Layton.  Layton denied communicating to Nisperos an offer from Girardi to assist 
with becoming a judge.  Two witnesses reported that Nisperos and Layton had a 
close relationship while they were working at the State Bar.  One of these witnesses 
reported that Layton used to act as a chauffeur for Nisperos, and another witness 
reported that the two would attend social gatherings like barbeques and that 
Nisperos would supposedly refer to Layton as his “political guy.”  During his 
deposition, Layton said that he drove Nisperos “on occasion.”  One witness reported 
that Layton may have played a role in the State Bar’s decision to promote Platel in 
August 2001 by advocating for Platel’s promotion to Nisperos.  During his 
interview with us, Nisperos stated he recalled Platel trying to curry favor with him, 
and that he only discovered after leaving the State Bar that Platel had a close 
relationship with Girardi.  

During Nisperos’s time as CTC, there were approximately seven Girardi cases 
closed by his office.  Nisperos denied knowing that his office handled multiple cases 
against Girardi during his tenure as CTC.  None of those cases were sent out to 
conflicts counsel under Rule 2201, but instead were closed by State Bar staff.  This 
includes Case 01-O-03204, a case closed under suspicious circumstances that is 
discussed in detail below, which was closed by State Bar staff including Platel, in 
April 2002.     

In 2006, after Nisperos had left the State Bar, Girardi endorsed Nisperos’s 
campaign for superior court judge.  Girardi Keese donated $1,000 to Nisperos’s 
2006 judicial campaign.  In 2009, a Girardi Keese attorney wrote an email to 



HALPERN MAY YBARRA GELBERG LLP 
ATTORNEY-CLIENT PRIVILEGED/CONFIDENTIAL 
ATTORNEY WORK PRODUCT   

 
PRIVILEGED / WORK PRODUCT                                                                  61 | P a g e  

 
www.halpernmay.com 

550 South Hope Street | Suite 2330 | Los Angeles, California 90071 

Nisperos to ask for two attorney referrals.  Nisperos recalled providing the requested 
referrals to the Girardi Keese attorney but stated that they had no further interactions 
on that case and that he never worked with anyone at Girardi Keese on any cases.  

  
As a CTC, Nisperos should have completed a Form 700 during each year of his 

tenure as CTC.  However, the State Bar was unable to locate any Forms 700 for 
Nisperos.  As noted above, during his interview, Nisperos told us that he did not 
disclose the basketball tickets that he received from Girardi on a Form 700.  

  
John Noonen 

  
John Noonen was an investigator at the State Bar from 1987 until his termination 

in 2015.  From 2012 to 2015, Noonen served as the Managing Director of 
Investigations.15  Noonen and Layton worked together as investigators for many 
years at the State Bar, and they appear to have had a close relationship.  Layton 
reportedly introduced Noonen to Girardi around 2001 or 2002.  

  
Noonen had multiple connections to Girardi Keese.  A resume sent to the State 

Bar shows that Noonen’s daughter worked at Girardi Keese from 2010-2011, while 
Noonen was at the State Bar.  Additionally, Girardi Keese represented Noonen in a 
legal matter around 2002.  According to a former Girardi Keese attorney, Girardi 
Keese also represented Noonen’s sister in a matter in the 2004 to 2007 timeframe.   

 
A former Girardi Keese employee told us that Noonen visited the Girardi Keese 

office, although he did so with less frequency than Greenberg.  Noonen attended 
lunches at Morton’s with Layton, and he admitted that Girardi was sometimes also 
present.  During his interview with us, Noonen stated that he did not know who paid 
for his lunches at Morton’s, but he conceded that he did not pay for them himself.  In 
September 2014, while serving as the Managing Director of Investigations for the 
State Bar, Noonen accepted eight tickets to a UCLA sports game from Girardi 
Keese.  Noonen told us that he learned of the tickets through Layton, and it appears 
that Noonen went to the Girardi Keese office to pick up the tickets.  

  

 
15 After his termination, Noonen sued the State Bar for retaliation and defamation.  Before 
his termination, Noonen took photographs of documents.  We did not investigate this 
occurrence, except to review certain of the documents to determine whether they related to 
Girardi.  We also asked Noonen during his interview whether his actions related to Girardi.  
Our review did not reveal that the documents related to Girardi, and Noonen denied that 
his actions had anything to do with Girardi. 
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Noonen also appears to have attended several Girardi and/or Girardi Keese 
parties, such as a 2010 Christmas party. During our interview with Noonen, he 
denied going to any of Girardi's Superbowl pruties, but documentruy evidence 
shows that he RSVPed "yes" for the 2013 Superbowl party (along with 
Greenberg). Documentary evidence also shows that Noonen RSVPed "yes" to the 
2012 Girardi Keese Thanksgiving luncheon (along with Greenberg and Dunn). 
Noonen was included on Girardi Keese's guest list for a 2016 Inner City Law Center 
luncheon. 

Noonen told us he received an invitation by mail in 2013 to go to the Bahamas 
for a Girardi or Girardi Keese party. Noonen reported that Layton knew about the 
invitation, because Layton asked Noonen if he had received anything in the mail 
around the time of the invitation. N oonen told us that he did not accept the invitation 
to the pruty. 

Noonen submitted Forms 700 in at least 2014 (for the period Januruy I­
December 31, 2013) and 2015 (for the period January I-December 31 , 2014). On 
all his Forms 700, Noonen stated under penalty of perjury that he had no reportable 
interests. However, it does not appear that this was accurate for at least the 2015 
Form 700, as Noonen accepted eight UCLA tickets from Girru·di Keese in 
September 2014. 

Noonen was assigned as an investigator to two Girru·di cases while at the State 
Bai·, both of which were closed without discipline. Case 12-0-16066, involved 
allegations of misappropriation, misrepresentations to the court, trust account issues 
and the commission of a crime, and was closed in 2012 for insufficient evidence. 16 

Case 12-0-15515 involved allegations of failure to perform, delay, abandonment of 
client, lack of/failure to communicate, and withdrawal from employment and was 
closed in 2013 also for lack of evidence. Lazru· reviewed these cases and found that 
neither was properly investigated, thus calling into question their closures. 

We discussed the cases with both Noonen and a State Bai· attorney who worked 
on the cases with him. Noonen disclaimed any memory of the cases and could not 
answer any questions about the investigative decisions he made. When asked 
whether he should have recused himself from the cases due to his relationship with 

that Greenberg had the in the case. 

PRIVILEGED / WORK PRODUCT 

www.halpernmay.com 

62 IP age 

550 South Hope Street I Suite 2330 I Los Angeles, California 90071 



HALPERN MAY YBARRA GELBERG LLP 
ATTORNEY-CLIENT PRIVILEGED/CONFIDENTIAL 
ATTORNEY WORK PRODUCT 

Girardi and Girardi Keese, Noonen said that he did not believe he had a conflict-of­
interest because all of his interactions with Girardi were through Layton. 

The OCTC attorney who worked on both cases with Noonen did not specifically 
recall the cases and was not a.warn that Noonen had been represented by Girardi 
Keese before working on this case, and I was also not aware that N oonen' s 
daughter had worked for Girardi Keese. The attorney disclaimed having any 
connection to Ginudi, other than taking a class from him in the 1980s. After being 
informed of Noonen's possible connections to Girardi Keese, the OCTC attorney 
said that Noonen should have recused himself rather than working the Girardi 
cases. If the OCTC attorney had known about Noonen's connections at the time, 
■would not have allowed Noonen to work on the cases. Although, with hindsight, 
the attorney raised,estions about some of the investigative steps taken by Noonen 
and indicated that may expect different handling of the cases today, the attorney 
said that ultimately, as the attorney assigned to the cases, was responsible for the 
decision to close the cases. 

As N oonen had familial and personal connections to Girardi at the time that he 
worked on these two cases, he had a conflict-of-interest and should not have handled 
the investigations. We conclude that Noonen's connections to Girardi taint the 
handling of these cases and the discretionary decisions to close them without public 
discipline. 

Dale Nowicki 

Dale Nowicki was hired by the State Bar in June 2020, and he worked as an 
OCTC attorney until October 2021.17 After a media inquiry in October 2021, the 
State Bar became aware that Nowicki had an ongoing private practice in which he 
co-counseled with David Lira, a former Girardi Keese attorney and Girardi' s son­
in-law. We understand that Nowicki did not disclose his work in private practice to 
the State Bar or get approval to continue working on outside cases while employed 
at the State Bar. He also did not disclose any outside income to the State Bar on a 
Form 700 that he submitted in 2021. 

After leaving the State Bar, Noonen worked with Nowicki at the Metropolitan 
Transportation Authority. We understand from Noonen that he introduced Nowicki 
to Layton when Nowicki was looking for an attorney refen-al to handle a wrongful 

17 We did not interview Nowicki, as he had ah-eady resigned from the Bar by the time we 
learned about his Girardi connections and because he did not work on any Girardi cases. 
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death case.  Noonen told us he believed that Layton referred Nowicki to someone at 
Girardi Keese.  Noonen denied having any involvement in getting Nowicki a job at 
the State Bar.  By the time Nowicki was hired by the State Bar, Noonen had not 
worked there in years.  

We have no evidence that Nowicki was involved in any Girardi cases while he 
worked at the State Bar.  

Richard Platel 

Richard Platel joined the State Bar as an attorney in June 1999.  In August 2001, 
Nisperos, then the CTC, promoted Platel to an Assistant Chief Trial Counsel 
(ACTC) position.  Several people whom we interviewed commented on how 
quickly Platel was promoted.  One witness told us that he understood that Layton, 
who had reportedly ingratiated himself with Nisperos, advocated for Platel’s 
promotion to Nisperos. 

In 2004, Platel was appointed to the State Bar Court by California State 
Assembly Speaker Fabian Nuñez.  Many witnesses told us that Layton was involved 
in or directly responsible for Platel’s appointment.  One witness reported being 
privy to a conversation with Platel and Layton before Platel’s appointment was 
finalized, during which Layton reportedly said that Girardi was close with Nuñez 
and was pushing for Platel to be appointed.  One witness said it was an “open secret” 
that Layton helped Platel to get the State Bar Court position.  During our interview 
of Platel, he denied discussing his interest in the State Bar Court appointment with 
Girardi, and he said that he had no knowledge of what Girardi did or did not do on 
his behalf.  He admitted to discussing the appointment with Layton, but said that he 
did not recall what they discussed.  During Layton’s sworn deposition he stated that 
he couldn’t remember having discussions with Platel or otherwise discussing 
Platel’s appointment to the State Bar Court and that his only involvement in Platel’s 
appointment was telling “everybody he applied.”  Layton further denied contacting 
anyone involved in the appointment process on Platel’s behalf.  

Additionally, after his appointment to the State Bar Court in 2004, a reception 
was held in Platel’s honor at the Walt Disney Concert Hall.  We heard from multiple 
witnesses that Girardi sponsored this reception.  Platel vehemently denied that 
Girardi sponsored the reception, saying he paid for it himself.  Platel claimed that 
he did not have any receipts for the reception.  Platel did admit that he invited 
Girardi to the celebration because Girardi called to congratulate him.  On December 
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20, 2004, a Girardi Keese receptionist invited all Girardi Keese attorneys to Platel's 
reception. 

Sant; Mon. 20 Doc 2004 17:19:29 +0000 
To: Attorneys ~Uy@gicard1lwoso.com> 
Su bjoet: Judge RK:tlard Platet 

You are 1111 cordially invilad IO A roo ptlon for Judge RichArd PtAtol Al tho O SM)' Concellt Hllll from 
4=00 to 5:30 PM. II win bo In tho BP Hal (Founders Room). 

Although we have not found documentary evidence showing that Girardi ultimately 
paid for the reception, we find it unusual that all Girardi Keese attorneys would be 
invited to the reception absent Girardi's involvement in sponsoring the event. One 
witness told us that he heard from Layton that Girardi sponsored the reception. 
Additionally, we learned from a former Girardi Keese employee, who asserted that 
she attended the reception, that she understood that Girardi or Girardi Keese paid 
for the event. 

Platel told us that he met Girardi around 2004 when he was introduced to him at 
a restaurant. He described the relationship as cordial acquaintances. However, 
Nisperos identified Platel as Girardi's other connection (besides Layton) in OCTC. 
Platel denied ever having lunch with Girardi, although he admitted that he saw 
Girardi at lunch at Morton's a few times, when both happened to be there. He 
denied that Girar·di paid for his meals. One witness reported that Platel had a close 
relationship with Layton, Greenberg, and Noonen and that they would have lunch 
together. 18 

Platel also denied attending Girardi's Christmas parties, and he admitted to 
attending only one Girardi Superbowl patty. Documentary evidence shows that 
Platel appears to have been invited to the Christmas party thrown by Girardi and/or 
Girardi Keese in at least 2010, 2011, 2013-2014, and 2018-2019. He also appears 
to have been invited to the Girardi Superbowl party in at least 2009, 2011-2012, 
2014, and 2018-2019. Additionally, Platel and his wife (another State Bar 
employee)19 were included on Girardi Keese's guest list for the 2013 Jack Webb 

18 One fo1mer Girardi Keese attorney told us that Platel's "son 's then-fiancee" worked at 
Girardi Keese for many years as a law clerk. Platel did not mention anything about this 
connection during his testimony. 
19 Platel 's wife worked at the State Bar as an investigator until April 2015. We do not have 
any evidence that she worked on Girardi cases. 
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Award dinner.  Like many of the individuals discussed above, Platel told us that he 
was a panelist at the CAALA convention in Las Vegas several times, starting around 
2004.  Platel also told us that he attended the Girardi Keese dinner during the 
conventions.  

Platel served two terms on the State Bar Court, and he was not reappointed for 
a third.  He left the State Bar Court in October 2014, and in 2015, he moved to 
Hawaii to work at the Hawaii State Bar.  He then returned to California in March 
2017.  We received reports that Platel tried several times to get back into 
OCTC.  Platel told us that he applied to be CTC in 2008 or 2009, and a witness 
reported to us that Layton wanted Dunn to select Platel to replace CTC 1 as CTC in 
2011.  According to a May 2016 privileged email sent by a then-Board member, 
Girardi called the Board member and told him that Platel should be brought in as 
CTC (at the time, the CTC position was vacant).  Girardi reportedly said that Platel 
was “Chief Trial Counsel in Hawaii” and “would like to come back to California.” 
He also reportedly said that bringing Platel back as the State Bar’s CTC “could 
avoid pressure to disband the Bar.”  Shortly before this call occurred, emails show 
that Layton sent what appears to be Platel’s then-current resume to Girardi (via a 
Girardi Keese employee).  We asked Platel about whether he talked to Girardi about 
applying for the CTC position in 2016.  Platel admitted that he applied for the CTC 
position in 2016, but he denied talking to Girardi about it.  He stated that he did not 
recall whether he spoke to Layton about his application.  However, as noted above, 
Layton had a copy of his resume.  

Platel told us he was approached by Girardi in 2017 and asked to help with a 
case that Girardi Keese was litigating.  Platel admitted to flying on Girardi’s private 
jet to and from a hearing, along with his wife.  Platel told us that he was not 
compensated by Girardi for his involvement in the matter.  Platel denied taking any 
other flights on Girardi’s jet, and we do not have any evidence that he flew with 
Girardi during his time at the State Bar or State Bar Court.  

Platel completed Forms 700 in at least 2012 (for January 1-December 31, 2011), 
and 2014 (for January 1-December 31, 2013).  In 2012, Platel did not report 
anything on his Form 700, and in 2013 and 2014, Platel reported that he was 
reimbursed for travel expenses by CAALA.  

Platel was involved in at least one Girardi case while working in OCTC.  He was 
not involved in any Girardi cases while on the State Bar Court bench because there 
were no Girardi cases filed by OCTC during that time.  While in OCTC, Platel 
appears to have intervened and closed a Girardi case (Case 01-O-03204) in 2002 
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involving allegations of 1lust accounting violations. Multiple witnesses commented 
that the handling of the case was suspicious. Lazar concluded the case was 
improperly resolved and that Girardi should have been disbaned or suspended if it 
were properly handled. 

Platel, who was the investigator's supervisor 
reportedly took the case away from the investigator without any explanation. rnil 
interview, the inves1· ator recalled this case specifically before any prompting as it 
was very unusual to In,10 plus years at the State Bar, only twice had a case 
ever been taken away from . 

The Investigator was not aware of this at the time, but after Platel reportedly 
took the case from ■ another OCTC attorne reviewed the case alon with 
another active Girardi case . 

This statement is both le all and factuall incorrect. 

Platel then closed the case . We heard that this in and 
of itself was very unusual, as he was not the attorney assigned to the case and he 
was a high-level mana er. Usuall , the investi ator on a case-not the ACTC­
was responsible for 

the inveslii ator received 
told us that 

that the OCTC attorney told him that Girardi was a powerful man, and his 
impression was that the State Bar was afraid of Girardi. Platel also told us that he 
did not know Girardi at this time. The OCTC attorney told us that-did not recall 
the case or how■ came to . 
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Given the passage of time, we had minimal access to documents and other 
evidence from the time period when this case was closed (2002) and we did not find 
evidence that Platel had any connections to Girardi at the time. We do know, 
however, that within a few years of the case closure Platel did have a relationship 
to Girardi, as discussed above. Given the strangeness around how Platel interacted 
with this case and the benefits that he received from Girardi later in time, we cannot 
rule out that Platel had a conflict-of-interest that tainted the handling of this case. 

State Bar's Decision to Not Discipline Girardi After Ninth Circuit Sanctions 

In December 2010, OUTSIDE ATTORNEY C, acting as SDTC, determined that 
the State Bar would not pursue any additional discipline against Girardi for 
misconduct that resulted in Girardi (and other attorneys) being disciplined by the 
Ninth Circuit (In Re Girardi, 611 F.3d 1027 (9th Cir. 2010)). The decision to not 
impose discipline on Girardi came under fire both inside and outside the State Bar. 
Similarly, Lazar concluded that OUTSIDE ATTORNEY C misapplied the law and 
closed the case in en or. As this was such a contested result, we looked into this 
case specifically to determine whether Girardi's influence at the State Bar was a 
factor. As discussed in further detail below, there are many concerning aspects 
about the way the case was handled, but we did not find any evidence that the 
ultimate decision to impose no further discipline on Girardi was made as a result of 
Girardi's influence. 

In June 2008- and after an investigation led by Ninth Circuit Judge Wallace 
Tashima found that Girardi and other attorneys misled the Court-the Ninth Circuit 
appointed an independent prosecutor, Professor Rory Little, to conduct further 
disciplinary proceedings. At the same time, the State Bar opened an investigation 
(Case 08-0-12613) into the matter, but after discussions that accordin to the case 
file, a ear to have involved Greenber , 
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In July 2010, after Little completed his investigation, the Ninth Circuit 
concluded as follows: 

4. Conclusion 

Respondents in this case have been respected members of the bar, and each has presented significant mitigating evidence. 

Their conduct in this case, however, cannot be excused on that basis, given their cu lpability and the substantia l injury their 

conduct caused the opposing parties and this court. We have carefully considered the f 1040 recommendations of Judge 

Tashima and Professor Little, who have made our task substantially easier and whose assistance we gratefully acknowledge. 

We impose discipline as follows: 

THOMAS V. GIRARDI is formally reprimanded. 

In Re Girardi, 611 F.3d 1027, 1039-40 (9th Cir. 2010) 

The State Bar then proceeded with its- investigation. At the time, Miller, 20 

a Girardi Keese attorney, was President of the State Bar Board, and accordingly, 
CTC 1 recused himself and his office under Rule 2201. 

CTC 1 appointed OUTSIDE ATTORNEY C, a respected appellate litigator and 
appellate specialist at OUTSIDE LAW FIRM, as the SDTC to investigate the 
case. OUTSIDE ATTORNEY Chad never served as an SDTC before and was not 
on the pre-approved Rule 2201 counsel list. Although a titan of the appellate bar, 
by his own admission OUTSIDE ATTORNEY Chad very limited experience in 
State Bar matters. 21 OUTSIDE ATTORNEY C worked on the case with his partner, 
OUTSIDE ATTORNEY D, 22 as well as other OUTSIDE LAW FIRM 
attorneys. OUTSIDE ATTORNEY C provided his services on a pro bono basis, 
but the other OUTSIDE LAW FIRM attorneys billed for their time ursuant to the 
terms of a written en a ement a reement. 

We understand that upon being informed of 
OUTSIDE ATTORNEY C's conclusion, Girardi and/or the other attorneys made 
the outcome public. 

20 Miller was initially included in the Ninth Circuit's proceedings, but in 2006, he was 
exonerated and dischar ed. The Ninth Circuit did not im ose an disci line a ainst him. 
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By all accounts, OUTSIDE ATTORNEY C mishandled the case and improperly 
determined that no discipline should be imposed. Amon other issues, OUTSIDE 
ATTORNEY C stated in his memorandum that 

However, that statement is not 
supported by any relevant law, and the version of California Business and 
Professions Code section 6049 .1 that was in effect at the time contradicts OUTSIDE 
ATTORNEY C's reasoning, providing, "In any disciplinaiy proceeding under this 
chapter, a certified copy of a final order made by any court of record or any body 
authorized by law or by mle of court to conduct disciplinaiy proceedings against 
attorneys, of the United States or of any state or teITitory of the United States or of 
the District of Columbia, determining that a member of the State Bar committed 
professional misconduct in such other jurisdiction shall be conclusive evidence that 
the member is culpable of professional misconduct in this state . ... '" Durin our 
interview of OUTSIDE ATTORNEY C he stated 

by what the attorneys did, but he also thought that justice had been done and the 
attorneys had been "humiliated" enough by the Ninth Circuit's imposition of 
discipline. 

Beyond the legal incoITectness of OUTSIDE ATTORNEY C's conclusion, there 
are a series of issues that arose as a result of OUTSIDE ATTORNEY C's work on 
the Girardi case, and we discuss each in tum below. 

Prior Representation of Girardi Keese 

In 2006 (before OUTSIDE ATTORNEY C accepted the Girai·di case as an 
SDTC), an OUTSIDE LAW FIRM partner represented Girardi Keese in a case 
brought by a former Girai·di Keese client ("GIRARDI CLIENT LITIGATION"). 
OUTSIDE LAW FIRM's prior representation of Girardi Keese would at best make 
it a bad choice to be the film appointed to investigate whether Girardi committed 
misconduct, given the obvious appeai·ance of impropriety issues in having a client's 
former counsel investigate the client; at worst, it was a serious conflict-of-interest 
that should have been disclosed to the State Bar before the firm was engaged. 

We did not find any evidence suggesting that OUTSIDE ATTORNEY C or 
OUTSIDE ATTORNEY D were involved in GIRARDI CLIENT LITIGATION or 
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even knew the case existed. OUTSIDE ATTORNEY C told us that a conflicts 
check would have been run before he agreed to accept the SDTC position, but he 
did not specifically recall it or whether it picked up the GIRARDI CLIENT 
LITIGATION matter. OUTSIDE ATTORNEY D disclaimed any involvement in 
the conflicts check for the matter, but stated that if a check was run, it should have 
identified the GIRARDI CLIENT LITIGATION case. 

OUTSIDE ATTORNEY C also did not recall if he made any certification to the 
State Bar regarding conflicts-of-interest before being appointed SDTC for the 
Girardi case, and we did not locate any such certification in the State Bar's case 
file. We obtained documents and communications from OUTSIDE LAW FIRM's 
successor firm related to OUTSIDE ATTORNEY C's work as SDTC, and we did 
not find any documentary evidence showing the conflicts check or a discussion of 
potential conflicts or of GIRARDI CLIENT LITIGATION. 

When asked if the GIRARDI CLIENT LITIGATION case was a conflict that 
should have disqualified him from serving as SDTC on a Girardi case, OUTSIDE 
ATTORNEY C stated that it did not look good, but he did not believe it was a 
conflict because the matter was unrelated to the State Bar Girardi case. OUTSIDE 
ATTORNEY D stated that it may be a conflict. In 2011 , the State Bai· was inf01m ed 
of OUTSIDE LAW FIRM's prior representation of Girardi Keese in GIRARDI 
CLIENT LITIGATION and Rawle then De u Executive Director 

Based on the evidence available to us, we conclude that given OUTSIDE LAW 
FIRM's prior representation of Girardi Keese, OUTSIDE ATTORNEY C should 
not have been selected as the SDTC as it casts substantial doubt on his impartiality. 
That being said, given that we found no evidence that OUTSIDE ATTORNEY C 
knew of his firm's prior representation, we conclude that the prior representation 
did not influence the outcome of OUTSIDE ATTORNEY C's handling of the case. 

Greenberg's Involvement and Closure 

Even though this was a case referred out to an SDTC, Greenberg had a role in 
its handling. We understand that, at the time, Greenberg provided administrative 
support for Rule 2201 cases. Even though he had a pre-existing relationship with 
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Girardi, described in detail above, he did not recuse himself from that role on this 
case. As explained below, a witness claimed that in his opinion, Greenberg actually 
took credit for making the case go away. 

As a primary 
discussions about 

. Given Greenberg's relationship with Girardi, he 
probably should not have had any role in the process. In fact, that same year Girardi 
wrote Greenberg a thank you note for the most "extraordinary gift" he had ever 
received. 

After the Ninth Circuit concluded its disciplinary proceedings, the State Bar's 
investigation resumed, and Greenberg signed the letter confnming OUTSIDE 
ATTORNEY C's appointment. He also trained OUTSIDE ATTORNEY C and his 
team on mies and procedures for handling State Bar cases before they began their 
investigation. Witnesses did not recall the substance of the training, and Greenberg 
refused to testify, so it is unknown whether Greenberg gave instmctions to 
OUTSIDE ATTORNEY C that influenced the case's outcome. Greenberg also 
stayed in contact with OUTSIDE ATTORNEY C and his team as they conducted 
the investigation, as he was their point of contact with the State Bar·. 

A f01mer OCTC employee reported to us that ■overheard Greenberg 
discussing the closure of this case with attorneys at the 2010 Girardi Cluistmas 
party, and the witness got the impression that the attorneys were "patting" 
Greenberg on the back related to the closure of the case. We do not have any 
co1Toborating evidence for this, and indeed, the witness rep01ted that■ recollection 
was more like a "feeling," rather than any clear statements. However, the timing 
(OUTSIDE ATTORNEY C closed the case on December 15, and the witness 
reported hearing Greenberg discuss it at a Christmas party) does align with the 
witness's recollection. 

Greenberg's relationship with Girar·di, his involvement with the controversial 
case, and its improper outcome raise serious doubts about whether the case was 
~ andled. It is certainly suspicious that Greenberg was involved with the 
- of the case and was the one who provided the training to the SDTC team, 
and the SDTC thereafter failed to properly apply the State Bar's mies and 
procedures and improperly failed to impose any discipline on Girar·di. On the other 
hand, OUTSIDE ATTORNEY C denied that Greenberg had any role in his decision 
to close the case and told us that the decision not to impose discipline on Girardi 
was entirely his. While we cannot mle out that Greenberg may have improperly 
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influenced the outcome of the case, given OUTSIDE ATTORNEY C's acceptance 
for the decision-making in the case, we cannot conclude that it is more likely than 
not that he did. That said, given Greenberg's relationship with Girardi, he had a 
conflict-of-interest and should not have been involved in the handling of the case in 
any manner. 

Efforts to Reopen the Case 

Several OCTC attorneys vehement! disa ·eed with OUTSIDE ATTORNEY 
C's decision to close the case. 

As described 
in further detail below, OCTC ATTORNEY 2 was fired on July 6, 2011, and the 
case was not reopened. 

Acting Executive Director's Clandestine Involvement in Closing Rule 2201 
Cases 

In the course of our investigation, we became aware of a shocking issue 
involving f01mer Deputy and Ac~ve Director Hawley's handling of a 
Rule 2201 case involving Girardi- (Case 14-28979). As we lay out in 
detail below, CTC 2 recused OCTC from handling the State Bar com laint because 
~laint involved allegations concerning 
- · Even though Hawley knew of this conflict, he hand-selec 
whom he knew and then hostwrote a memorandum for the SDTC, 

which the SDTC presented as■ own. Hawley 
then recommended to the Board that they accept the "SDTC's" recommendation, 
without inf01ming the Board he was the one who prepared it. That this would 
happen for any case~ is especially concerning because the 
complaint implicated _ , and Hawley's acti~ 
this was the intention helped protect the State Bar and -

In October 2014, an attorney made a complaint to the State Bar, alleging that 
Girardi threatened to report someone to the State Bar if they did not acquiesce to his 
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demands and that Girardi d 
testimony in a deposition 
Because the complaint inv 

I • ! t f t th tb £ 1 e 

CTC 2 recused OCTC from the matter and requested appointment of a SDTC to 
handle the complaint pursuant to Rule 2201 . CTC 2 gave the following explanation 
as to why she was recusing herself: 

Pursuant 10 rule 220 I (i}, l recuse myself wilh respect to a complaint allegjng professional misconduct by 
Thomas Girardi . I am aware of facts that might reasonably entertain a doubt that I could be able to be 
impartial. More specifically, I have reported professional concerns about Thomas Girardi 's relationship 
with Stale Bar employee T homas Layton and fonner Executive Director Joseph Dunn, which may give 
the appearance of partialily. 

As described in additional detail in the section below, CTC 2 had herself made a 
report to Hawley regarding inappropriate connections between Girardi and Layton 
she was aware of and had requested an internal investigation of the issue. CTC 2 
then requested an investigation into the facts alleged in the State Bar complaint that 
had been made by the outside attorney. 

In Febmary 2015, Deputy and Acting Executive Director Hawley emailed an 
attorney he previously worked with in private practice ("OUTSIDE ATTORNEY 
B"), and asked ifl would be willing to "take a pro bono assignment" as an SDTC. 
Hawley stated that the "assignment should only take a few hours and should be 
limited to file review." Hawley fmther said that he could and would "assist [with] 
authorities and guidance." OUTSIDE ATTORNEY B told us that I did not have 
any experience w~ rofessional responsibility or State Bar· disciplinary cases, and 
that Hawley told- that he would answer any questions thatl had. 

Hawley then emailed the Board to recommend that OUTSIDE ATTORNEY B 
be appointed the SDTC for the case. In his email to the Boar·d, Hawley 
mischaracterized CTC 2's rationale for recusing herself from the case as follows: 

The other files are from individuals represented by Girardi & Keese. These complaints pertain to 
Thomas Girardi 's representation of parties in litigation totally unrelated to the State Bar. Girardi & 
Keese is the firm that former State Bar President Howard Miller is with. This, and the fact that Miller 
has represented former ED Joseph Dunn regarding Dunn's separation from the State Bar resulted 
in the CTC's recusal from these cases. 
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Regardless of his intention, this mischaracterization had the effect of hiding 
CTC 2 's complaints about Girardi' s connections at the State Bar from the Board. 

A Board member i estioned Hawley's proposal of OUTSIDE ATTORNEY B 
as an SDTC, asking if had the right expertise and noting that I "doesn't seem to 
have any ethics, prosecutorial or other related experience." The Board member 
added, " [i]f these claims [complaints] are simple ones then that 's fine, but if they 
have any sensitivity or complexity (which I imagine they might) then we might be 
better off with someone who has more expertise." Hawley pushed for the 
appointment of OUTSIDE ATTORNEY B, arguing back to the Board member, 
among other things, that it was difficult to find SDTCs as the appointment is pro 
bona; that Los Angeles-based attorneys did not wish to take on a case involving 
Girardi; that the case files were "mdimenta1y"; and that OUTSIDE ATTORNEY 
B's task would be to determine if the file should be closed. Ultimately, OUTSIDE 
ATTORNEY B was appointed in March 2015 to handle four Girardi cases23 and 
one additional, unrelated case. 

Even though the case had been assigned to OUTSIDE ATTORNEY B to 
conduct an independent investigation and assessment of the Girardi complaint, 
Haw le was the one who actuall handled it and made the recommendation to close 

23 OUTSIDE ATTORNEY B was also appointed SDTC to review three complaints against 
Girardi, all related to each other, that did not have to do with allegations of connections 
between Girardi and - (Cases 14-30049, 14-30061 , and 14-30269). ■ ultimately 
recommended closur~ three cases. Based on documentary evidence, 1t appear·s that 
OUTSIDE ATTORNEY B wrote recommending closure of these 
cases- Lazar· concluded the closures were appropriate and we have no evidence to 
the contra1y . We also do not have any evidence that OUTSIDE ATTORNEY B had any 
connections to Girar·di, and- disclaimed any such connections. 
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Hawley's analysis follows: 

OUTSIDE ATTORNEY B 
made a sarcastic remark about the fact that Hawley was doing 

the actual work on the case in OUTSIDE ATTORNEY B's name. 

In May 2015, and without telling the Board that he ghostwrote it, Hawley sent 
the memorandum to the Board, along with a memorandum in his own name 
recommending the Board a rove the closure of the case and the Board acce ted 
the recommendation. 

We only discovered Hawley's involvement in the case after conducting a review 
of his emails. The official case file did not contain materials showing how heavily 
Hawley was involved in the case or that he essentially made the decision to close 
the case himself. 

When Hawley was interviewed, he provided confusing and inconsistent 
information about his involvement in the Girardi case. When we asked Hawley 
about his role in SDTC matters generally, he refened to himself as a "resource" to 

PRIVILEGED / WORK PRODUCT 76 IP age 

www.halpernmay.com 
550 South Hope Street I Suite 2330 I Los Angeles, California 90071 



HALPERN MAY YBARRA GELBERG LLP 
ATTORNEY-CLIENT PRIVILEGED/CONFIDENTIAL 
ATTORNEY WORK PRODUCT 

the SDTCs and said that he would provide his thoughts to SDTCs only if asked. He 
added that he always made it clear to an SDTC that the result should be the SDTC's 
independent decision. He did not mention writing the rep01t s on behalf of SDTCs. 
However, once we showed Hawley the emails and documents we found in his 
emails showing he ghostwrote materials for OUTSIDE ATTORNEY B, Hawley 
admitted to writing the materials, and said he wrote rep01ts for all SDTC cases he 
was involved with, not just the Girardi case. When asked whether he told anyone 
about his ghostwriting of SDTC memoranda, Hawley said that the Boru·d knew 
about it, but we have not found any evidence to support that. Because our 
investigation was focused on Girardi-related cases, we did not vet Hawley's 
statement that he routinely wrote SDTC rep01t s in all cases. We found evidence 
that Hawley apperu·s to have ghostwritten one other rep01t for OUTSIDE 
ATTORNEY B (for an um-elated complaint against a different attorney), but we did 
not find evidence that he ghostwrote any other rep01ts, and it does not appear that 
he wrote the materials for the other cases against Girru·di handled by OUTSIDE 
ATTORNEY B. 

When we interviewed OUTSIDE ATTORNEY B, I initially said that Hawley 
provided,with a "skeleton" report, and that no one at the State Bar attempted to 
influence decision regru·ding whether to im ose disci line on Girardi. 
Additionally, when first shown the report 
OUTSIDE ATTORNEY B stated unequivocally that drafted the report and that 
no one assisted ■ in drafting its contents. However, after we showei.1111 the 
documentary evidence showing otherw ise, I apologized and told us that l('clici not 
recall that Hawley drafted the report, and admitted that Hawley in fact had done so. 
■ also told us that I probabl~ the materials cited in the report 
supporting the recommendation _ , as I would have just accepted 
what Hawley sent . - admitted that the decision to close the case was not an 
independent one, and thatll had defe1Ted to Hawley's assessment of how to handle 
the allegations. 

While Hawley's intervention in the Girard- case is troubling on many 
levels, we did not find any evidence indicating that Hawley's actions were 
motivated by connections to Girru·di or a desire to protect him. As far as we could 
determine, Hawley did not have any relationship to Girardi and did not receive 
anything of value from him or anyone connected to him. When asked about his 
relationship to Girardi, Hawley stated that he had never met him. 

Hawley's intervention into this Girru·di case is a clear breach of Rule 2201, as 
well as of the separation between the Executive Director's Office and OCTC. The 
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case was refen ed out to inde endent counsel because it directl 
Bar 

the State 
. CTC2 

determined that independence was needed in the handling of the case, and that 
someone outside the State Bar should handle it. The fact that someone inside the 
State Bar handled this case is alone troubling; that it was the Acting Executive 
Director of the State Bar is frankly shocking. The Executive Director is not 
supposed to make recommendations in discipline cases, and especially not Rule 
2201 cases. The effect of Hawley's intervention in the case-especially when 
considered in conjunction with the decision to close without investigating CTC 2 's 
requests for an internal investigation into overla issues- had the effect of 

rotectin Girardi and keeping hidden his 
. It is especially strikin tha 
's actions was that 

Office of General Counsel and Executive Director's Office Failure to 
Investigate Reported Girardi Connections at State Bar 

Both the Executive Director 's Office and the Office of General Counsel received 
reports from both internal and external sources of Girardi' s influence at the State 
Bar and connections to Layton and others, but failed to investigate the complaints 
in good faith. 

In December 2013, an outside attorney wrote a letter to Executive Director Dunn 
that raised concerns about Layton's connections with Girardi and his involvement 
in Ginudi disciplinary matters. From what we can determine, Dunn did nothing 
with the letter. In January 2014, the outside attorney forwar·ded the letter to Deputy 
Director Hawley after being refen-ed to him by Oehler. 

We were not able to find any documentary evidence showing that Dunn or 
Hawley did anything to follow up on the letter. When we spoke to Hawley, he said 
that he did not recall the letter, but he would not have done anything after receiving 
the letter other than talk to CTC 2. 

Later in 2014, CTC 2 received a voicemail from a woman claiming to be a 
licensed attorney in Washington who wanted to speak to someone about Executive 
Director Dunn and Girardi. The caller claimed to have first-hand knowledge of 
financial dealings involving Dunn and Girardi. CTC 2 forwar·ded the voicemail to 
Hawley for handling, stating that she was not going to return the call unless Hawley 
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instmcted her otherwise. Hawley informed us that he did not recall receiving this 
email from CTC 2 or taking any action after receiving it. 

In November 2014, as discussed in further detail in the section above, OCTC 
received a complaint against Girardi alleging that Girardi threatened to report 
someone to the State Bar if they did not ac uiesce to his demands and that Girardi 

-

alse testimony in a deposition 
CTC 2 recused OCTC from the matter pursuant to Rule 2201 and asked 

Hawley, who was then the Deputy and Acting Executive Director of the State Bar, 
to appoint an SDTC to investigate. Hawley's improper handling of the case sent to 
the SDTC is discussed in detail in the section above. Concun-ently with her recusal, 
CTC 2 also requested the State Bar's human resources office conduct an internal 
investigation into the allegations regarding Layton. 

Hawley sent CTC 2's request for an internal investigation to the State Bar 's 
Office of General Counsel where it was assigned to the general 
counsel. The general counsel reviewed the materials and determined 
that there were not "sufficient facts at this time to go forward with an internal 
investigation." ■ noted, however, that "if there are additional facts linking Girardi 
and Layton that might implicate an inappropriate relationship, or if there are other 
complaints or allegations against Layton that suggest a pattern of using his position 
as an OCTC investigator to benefit third patties, further inquiry may be 
appropriate." 

Also in November 2014, CTC 2 separately reported her own concerns to Hawley 
that Layton was receiving meals, plane rides on Girardi' s private jet, legal 
representation, and other things of value from Girardi, while Layton was employed 
at the State Bar and in violation of the State Bar 's olicies. CTC 2 re uested an 
internal investi ation into these issues, 

stating that it should 
be easy to verify allegations such as one that Girardi represented Layton in litigation 
while Layton was employed at the State Bar. CTC 2 also identified Dunn, Platel, 
Miles, and Noonen as potentially also having received inappropriate gifts from 
Girardi. CTC 2 also made this report to Hawley. 

Hawley sent CTC 2 's second investigation request to the same 
general counsel who had reviewed CTC 2 's first complaint, asking to review 
and to determine whether the new information changed ■ conclusion about 
whether any kind of internal investigation into the allegations was 
warranted. Despite the fact thatl had earlier concluded that additional allegations 
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linking Girardi and Layton would wanant an investigation, the 
general counsel did not conduct any investigation into CTC 2 's allegations, and did 
not take any ~ fy or disprove any inf01mation provided by CTC 
2. Instead, the - general counsel determined that an investigation was 
not warranted because CTC 2 had not substantiated her allegations with 
evidence. The general counsel advised that several of CTC 2 's 
allegations, if tru e, could raise serious concerns, but because the al~ 
only allegations, no action needed to be taken. Stated differently, th~ 
general counsel determined that because the allegations were only allegations, no 
internal investigation should be conducted to determine whether the allegations 
were true. 

We interviewed the general counsel who prepared these analyses, 
and, did not recall ever having worked on anything involving Girardi. ■stated 
that had no recollection of preparing any analysis regarding a possible internal 
investigation into Girardi' s ~ to Layton and other State Bar e.loyees, even after 
being shown the analysis - wrote. ■ also stated that had no personal 
knowledge of any State Bar employee receiving anything of value from Girardi. 

The general counsel's advice that no investigation was warranted 
because the allegations were only allegations was provided to the Executive 
Director's Office by written memorandum in May 2015, and no further action was 
taken to investigate Girardi' s gifts and other connections to Layton and 
others. During this same time period (April to June 201 5), and as described in the 
section above, Deputy and Acting Executive Director Hawley ghostwrote and 
submitted to the Board for approval a report purp01t~e SDTC assigned 
to investigate the outside complaint about Girardi _ , which similarly 
recommended closing witho~ ation a complaint alleging inappropriate 
connections between Girardi-. 

2011 Termination of OCTC Management 

We were told by many witnesses, including former Executive Director Dunn, 
that the Executive Director's Office is not supposed to interfere or have any 
involvement in the affairs of OCTC. There is supposed to be a wall between the 
two offices of the State Bar, which is why Dunn's termination of four senior OCTC 
attorneys, two of whom were advocating for cases against Girardi around the time 
of their termination, raises questions about whether the firings were motivated in 
pa1t or in whole to assist Girardi. 
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Dunn sta1ted as Executive Director in November 2010, and CTC 1 staited as 
CTC in July 2010. According to CTC 1, Dunn approached him during the first half 
of 2011 and told him that he needed to fire some of his staff. CTC 1 told Dunn that 
OCTC staffing was "none of his business" and CTC 1 refused to fire anyone. 

At the same time, Dunn also made it known to Hawley, his Deputy Executive 
Director, that he wanted OCTC ATTORNEY 2 gone. OCTC ATTORNEY 2 
recounted to us that Hawley told■ in Ap1il or May 2011 that Dunn wanted to 
terminate■, adding that there were no complaints about■ performance and that 
he (Hawley) believed that OCTC ATTORNEY 2 was doing a great job. As 
described in further detail above, OCTC ATTORNEY 2 at the time was a vocal 
critic of the decision made by OUTSIDE ATTORNEY C not to discipline Girai·di 
and had been advocating to upper management and the Board to reopen the case. 

CTC 1 was only in his position as CTC for one year, as the California Senate 
never confirmed him. His last day in the office was Friday, July 1, 2011. On July 
6 2011 Dunn and Hawley te1minated OCTC ATTORNEY 2 along with three other 

in OCTC includin OCTC ATTORNEY 1. A month earlier, 
OCTC ATTORNEY 1 against Girardi based on 
allegations he had stole . Neai·ly simultaneously with■ 
firing, Greenberg drafted a dated July 5, 2011. We did not 
find any evidence that the other two fired OCTC attorneys had been working on any 
Girardi matters. 

When interviewed, Dunn said that he approved the te1minations, but he was 
simply rubber-stamping the decision that his deputy, Hawley, recommended. He 
could not recall why the four were terminated but believed it was perf01mance 
related. A review of the four attorneys' personnel files revealed nothing explaining 
why they were terminated. The employees ' separation agreements that were 
recovered all indicate that the employees were involuntaiily separated, without any 
explanation as to why. In the press at the time, it was reported that according to a 
spokesperson for the State Bai·, the te1mination decisions were "vested in Executive 
Director Joseph Dunn" and were pait of an effort to "improve the State Bar's 
operations." 

Hawley was also interviewed, but his mem01y was poor. He did not remember 
details about the terminations and made inconsistent statements about the impetus 
for them. It is clear, however, that Hawley was the one who communicated the 
firings to the employees and handled the attendant paperwork. 
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The evidence shows that Dunn signed off on the firings and Hawley 
implemented them, including by signing the sepal"ation agreements. Eve1yone with 
whom we spoke about this issue also agreed that only Dunn could have approved 
the actual terminations. However, there are disagreements about the details beyond 
this. In his deposition, Dunn claimed that the recommendation to fire the four 
OCTC attorneys came from Hawley, but Hawley does not remember details about 
the te1minations and made inconsistent statements about the impetus for them. 

Considering all of the evidence, we believe that it is more likely than not that 
Dunn was the driving force behind the te1minations. Further, there is reason to 
believe the firing may have been motivated by Dunn's connections to Girardi. We 
understand that this was the first time the Executive Director 's Office directed the 
te1mination of OCTC employees, and that this has not happened again. If you credit 
CTC l 's and OCTC ATTORNEY 2's statements, Dunn was seeking to fire OCTC 
attorneys, but CTC 1 was a roadblock to do so. Within days of CTC l 's leaving 
office, the Executive Director's Office fired the OCTC employees. This was a 
significant break in protocol that, as far as we can discern, did not happen before 
and has not happened since Dunn's tenure. When you combine these facts with 
Dunn's connections to Girardi and the fact that two of the fired attorneys had 
recently advocated for discipline against Girardi, there is reason to believe the 
te1minations were based, at least in pa1t, on Girardi's influence at the State Bar. 
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APPENDIX A 
OVERVIEW OF THE STATE BAR AND ITS ORGANIZATION 

 
The State Bar of California is the regulatory arm of the California Supreme Court.  Its 

mission is to protect the public and includes the primary functions of licensing, regulation, and 
discipline of attorneys; the advancement of the ethical and competent practice of law; and 
support of efforts for greater access to, and inclusion in, the legal system.  The State Bar of 
California is the largest state bar in the United States, and it licenses more than 250,000 
attorneys, investigates approximately 16,000 complaints of attorney misconduct annually, and 
distributes over $78 million in grants to legal aid organizations.  

 
The organization and structure of the State Bar has changed several times since the State 

Bar was founded in 1927.  The following is a brief overview of its operations.24   
 
The State Bar is governed by a Board of Trustees (formerly called the Board of Governors) 

(the “Board”) composed of thirteen members.  Currently, five of these members are attorneys 
appointed by the California Supreme Court, and two are attorneys appointed by the California 
Legislature, one each by the Senate Committee on Rules and the Speaker of the Assembly.  
The other six members are non-attorney “public” members, four of whom are appointed by 
the Governor, one of whom is appointed by the Senate Committee on Rules, and one of whom 
is appointed by the Speaker of the Assembly.  The Board has standing committees composed 
only of Board members, two of which are statutorily mandated: the Board Executive 
Committee and the Regulation and Discipline (“RAD”) Committee. Currently, the entire 
Board sits as the RAD Committee.  

 
Prior to 2018, attorney Board members were not appointed but instead were elected.  The 

State Bar divided California into several districts, and Board members were elected by the 
licensed lawyers in each district.  At least in Los Angeles, there was an informal committee of 
prominent lawyers, colloquially referred to as the “Breakfast Club,” that would review the 
candidates from the district, identify the individuals they would back, and make endorsements.  
Girardi played a prominent role in this committee, including when fellow Girardi Keese 
attorney Miller ran for and was elected to the Board.   

 
The Board oversees the two main branches of the State Bar: OCTC, which handles the 

disciplinary function, and the Executive Director’s Office, which is responsible for the State 
Bar’s other functions including attorney admissions, finances, and administrative 
issues.  OCTC and the Executive Director’s Office are separate, each reporting directly to the 

 
24  This information is based on information provided by interviewees and information publicly 
available on the State Bar’s website, and is not intended to be a fulsome description of the nuances of 
the State Bar’s organization or activities, past or present. 
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Board, and the Executive Director is not supposed to interfere with OCTC's administration of 
the discipline system. The Office of General Counsel also reports directly to the Board. 

OCTC's discipline process proceeds in stages. Although the process has changed over 
time, in general and at a high level, Intake is the starting point for those seeking to file a 
complaint against an attorney. Complaints are initially evaluated at Intake to determine if they 
involve a violation of California's professional standards. If a f01m al investigation is 
wananted by the alleged misconduct in the complaint, the file moves to the Investigations 
stage. If the matter is not resolved at the Investigation stage, for example through private 
discipline negotiated between the State Bar and the attorney, a State Bai· attorney prepai·es a 
f01m al Notice of Disciplinaiy Charges and files it with the State Bar's comt system. The 
matter then proceeds to trial on the disciplinary charges. If at any point in the process OCTC 
determines a conflict-of-interest exists, the State Bai· utilizes the procedures in State Bai· Rule 
of Procedure 2201 , discussed in detail below, for the appointment of an outside attorney to 
handle the complaint. 

Intake 
Stas• 

California 
General Discipline Flow Chart 

Confidential Public 

OCTC 

r 
F-o,mal 

PrcflNnc Charge, Fllotd SBC Hearing 

St .. e ln $Ute8ar Department 

Court (58C) (Trlal) 

\. 

Investigation: An in\·estig,ation is conducted which 
way include witness inter"iews, depositions, 
subpoenas for records, and requestin~ the respondenl 
to respond to the allegations. 

SICRevkw 
Department 

IAl'P"~I 

Ficure 1.1- General Discipline Case Flow 

Callfomlo 
Supr~ 

Court 

The State Bai·'s court system, the State Bai· Court, hears all disciplinaiy cases brought by 
OCTC and SDTCs against licensed attorneys. California is the only state with an independent 
professional Court dedicated to ruling on attorney discipline cases. The State Bar Comt has 
the authority to recommend that the California Supreme Court suspend or disbai· attorneys 
found to have committed acts of professional misconduct or to have been convicted of serious 
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crimes.  For lesser offenses, the State Bar Court can issue public or private reprovals.  The 
State Bar Court also can temporarily remove lawyers from practice when they are deemed to 
pose a substantial threat of harm to clients or the public.  Lawyers may seek review of State 
Bar Court decisions in the California Supreme Court.  

Since 1989, the State Bar Court has used fulltime judges appointed by the California 
Supreme Court, the Legislature, and the Governor.  The Court is divided into two departments: 
a Hearing Department and a Review Department, headed by a presiding judge.  The Hearing 
Department is the trial level of the State Bar Court.  Five fulltime judicial positions are split 
between Los Angeles and San Francisco.  The Supreme Court appoints two of the hearing 
judges, while the Governor, the Speaker of the Assembly, and the Senate Committee on Rules 
appoint one hearing judge each.  The Review Department is the appellate level of the State 
Bar Court, consisting of the presiding judge and two other review judges.  All review judges 
are appointed by the Supreme Court. 
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APPENDIX B 
RELEVANT STATE BAR POLICIES AND PRACTICES 

 
Conflicts-of-Interest/Gifts and Rule 2201 
 

Until 2019, the State Bar of California did not have a robust policy relating to 
conflicts-of-interest, gifts from outside sources, or outside employment.  Thus, for 
most of the time during which State Bar employees were receiving, investigating, 
and closing complaints against Girardi, the State Bar did not have formal policies 
that clearly restricted many of the activities through which Girardi built 
relationships and influence, including providing free meals and event tickets to State 
Bar employees.  Although the State Bar has long had a formal policy on conflicts-
of-interest, past iterations of the policy were limited in scope and focused on an 
employee’s individual financial ties, rather than on issues of the appearance of 
impropriety for the State Bar as an organization. 

 
Starting in November 2019, the State Bar began issuing various policy directives 

with the aim of improving and clarifying rules and procedures.  In June 2022, after 
the issues with Girardi and the State Bar had been widely reported on, the State Bar 
implemented a new, robust policy that supplements previous policies and 
procedures applicable to OCTC employees.  As discussed below, the new policy 
added for the first time significant restrictions on receiving gifts from attorneys, and 
clarified the expectations for how employees are to handle conflicts-of-interest.   

 
Below we provide an overview of current policies and practices with regard to 

conflicts-of-interest, with a particular focus on State Bar Rule of Procedure 2201, 
which governs the use of outside attorneys as “Special Deputy Trial Counsel” in 
cases where OCTC is recused because of a conflict-of-interest.  We also identify 
some material differences in the current policies and practices as compared with 
historical policies and practices as they existed during relevant time periods.    

 
This information is intended to provide background, and to underscore the 

significance of the recent rule changes implemented by the State Bar.  It is not 
intended to explain all of the nuances in all of the State Bar’s conflicts policies and 
practices.  

 



HALPERN MAY YBARRA GELBERG LLP 
ATTORNEY-CLIENT PRIVILEGED/CONFIDENTIAL 
ATTORNEY WORK PRODUCT 

PRIVILEGED / WORK PRODUCT 87 | P a g e

www.halpernmay.com 

550 South Hope Street | Suite 2330 | Los Angeles, California 90071 

Rule 2201 

Rule 2201 sets forth the requirements for when and how to assign disciplinary 
complaints or inquiries to outside counsel when OCTC recuses itself from the 
matter.  The State Bar’s internal procedures for referring matters to an SDTC or 
implementing an ethical screen once a conflict-of-interest has been identified are set 
out in detail in the State Bar’s Policy Directive 2016-01, Ethical Screens (June 27, 
2016, revised Sept. 2, 2021).  As of June 2022, the State Bar’s procedures for 
identifying, tracking, and addressing conflicts-of-interest in OCTC go significantly 
beyond what is required by Rule 2201.  

The current version of Rule 2201 outlines two categories of OCTC recusals: 
mandatory and discretionary.  The circumstances under which OCTC’s recusal is 
mandatory are laid out in Rule 2201(a).  This includes inquiries, complaints, or 
matters that are about the CTC, an attorney employed by the State Bar, an attorney 
member of the Board, or an attorney that has had any personal, financial, or 
professional relationship with the CTC within the past 12 months.  Also included 
are matters the CTC believes will create the appearance that OCTC may not exercise 
its discretionary functions in an evenhanded manner, thus rendering it unlikely that 
an attorney will receive fair treatment or that the public will not be protected. 

The second prong of Rule 2201 grants the CTC discretion to recuse OCTC where 
the inquiry, complaint, or matter is about an attorney who, within the past 12 
months, has had a personal, financial, or professional relationship to the State Bar, 
its employees (other than the CTC), a member of the Board, or an attorney member 
of a State Bar committee or commission.  The CTC may also recuse OCTC to avoid 
the appearance of impropriety.   

Procedures for Determining Conflicts 

The State Bar relies on its employees to identify potential conflicts-of-interest at 
all stages.  On an annual basis, the State Bar requires its employees to complete a 
questionnaire in which they disclose personal, financial, and professional 
relationships they have with licensed California attorneys.  As of June 2022, all 
supervising attorneys, Assistant CTCs, Deputy CTCs, Special Assistants to the 
CTC, and the CTC are required to update their conflict-of-interest forms more 
frequently, on a quarterly basis.  The State Bar then adds all identified attorneys to 
a list (“conflicts list”) in its electronic case management system. 
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Upon receipt of a State Bar matter, the employee processing the complaint is 
required to check whether the complainant or respondent is listed in the conflicts 
list.  If so, action is taken in accordance with Policy Directive 2016-1, Ethical 
Screens.  The completion of the conflict check is noted in the database for each 
complaint.  

Next, according to recent revisions to the process, intake attorneys are required 
to review the matter and determine whether a potential conflict exists.  OCTC 
investigators or attorneys receiving cases from intake are required to review the 
matter for any potential conflict before they do any work on the matter.  This 
includes checking the current conflict-of-interest database, answering a series of 
prompts, and checking off that an “OCTC Conflict Check” has been completed.  If 
the matter moves to an appeal, the appeals attorney assigned must also complete a 
conflict check and record it in the database.    

The obligation to check for conflicts now continues throughout the duration of 
the matter.  State Bar policy requires that employees notify their supervisors as soon 
as possible if a potential conflict arises or becomes known at any stage after a case 
has been opened.  Finally, prior to closing or otherwise resolving the matter, any 
OCTC investigator or attorney assigned to the matter must again review the matter 
for conflicts, and again record the conflicts check in the database.  

Appointment of Outside Attorneys under Rule 2201 

As indicated above, when the State Bar identifies a conflict, OCTC can follow 
the process laid out in Rule 2201 to assign the case to outside examiners (“OEX”) 
(attorneys contracted by the State Bar, also called SDTCs) or, in certain situations, 
recuse only those employees who have a connection to the case. 

When the CTC determines that recusal is appropriate, the matter is referred to 
the SDTC Administrator (“Administrator”).  The Administrator conducts a 
preliminary review of the inquiry, complaint, or matter.  If the Administrator 
determines that no violation occurred, or that one cannot be proven, the 
Administrator closes the matter.  Otherwise, the Administrator assigns the matter to 
an SDTC to further investigate.  This preliminary review of inquiries and complaints 
must be completed within sixty days.  A complainant may request a review of the 
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Administrator’s decision to close a complaint or inquiry; such a request for review 
is referred to an SDTC.   

Once the Administrator refers the matter to an SDTC, the SDTC conducts the 
investigation.  The Administrator and SDTC act in place of OCTC regarding any 
inquiry, complaint, or other matter and any resulting investigation or prosecution. 
Upon being contacted about the potential case, the SDTC is provided the name of 
the respondent, the complaining witness, and any potential witnesses by the 
Administrator.  The SDTC is then required to confirm, in writing, whether they have 
any conflicts.  If none, the SDTC is then provided the case materials to begin 
working on the assignment.  If the SDTC notes a conflict, he or she is recused from 
the matter and another SDTC who is conflict-free is appointed to handle the 
complaint.      

Should the SDTC decide to close the matter, a complainant can request a review 
of the SDTC’s decision.  That request is handled by the Administrator, who refers 
it to a different SDTC than was originally assigned to the matter.  This (different) 
SDTC then determines whether to recommend to the Administrator that the matter 
be reopened for investigation or stay closed.   

Historical Practices and Prior Iterations of Rule 2201 

The State Bar’s current policies and practices regarding conflicts-of-interest 
represent a significant improvement on prior iterations of those policies.  Regarding 
Rule of Procedure 2201 in particular, the current iteration of the rule, issued in 
December 2021, differs significantly from the prior iterations from 2006, 2016, 
January 2019 and November 2019.  These material differences include:  

• Mandatory recusal.  Before 2019, Rule 2201 did not provide for the
mandatory recusal of the entire OCTC when there was a conflict.
Additionally, prior iterations provided the CTC with the discretion to recuse
herself in certain situations that would be considered mandatory recusal
situations under the current version of the rule.  For example, in the 2006
version of Rule 2201, the CTC had the discretion (but was not required) to
appoint an SDTC in investigations involving any member who had “a current
or recent personal, financial, or professional relationship” to the State Bar,
its employees, or a member of the Board.  In the current version, a
relationship with the CTC makes recusal mandatory.
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• Administrator.  The role of Administrator was created in 2016.  Prior to the 

creation of the Administrator role, the CTC or their designee conducted the 
preliminary review to determine whether an SDTC should be appointed to 
investigate the complaint or whether the case should be closed.  The creation 
of the Administrator role represents a significant change from prior practice 
because OCTC employees are no longer performing preliminary reviews of 
cases that have been identified as conflicts cases.  Formal procedures 
allowing a complainant to request review of a closed complaint were also 
added in 2016. 
 

• Oversight.  Beginning in 2016, the Chairperson of the Board’s RAD 
Committee was empowered to designate the State Bar’s Office of General 
Counsel to monitor all referrals to the Administrator and SDTC to maintain 
impartiality and confidentiality.  Currently, the Administrator and/or Office 
of General Counsel periodically reports to the Board the number, nature, and 
disposition of inquiries, complaints, and investigations for which an SDTC 
has been appointed.  Prior iterations of the Rule required the CTC to make 
these reports, but only upon the Board’s request.  

 
Additional Policies 

 
As indicated above, the State Bar’s new policies and procedures regarding 

conflicts-of-interest, implemented in June 2022, after our investigation began, go 
significantly beyond what is required by Rule 2201 and include prohibitions focused 
on the appearance of impropriety.  As of June 2022, under Policy Directive 2022-
05, no OCTC employee may participate (either directly or indirectly) in the review, 
investigation, or prosecution of any matter falling within the below categories:   

 
A matter involving the CTC; a state bar employee; a member of the Board; or a 

person with a personal, financial, or professional relationship to the CTC.     
 

• A matter involving any individual with whom the employee has (or has had 
in the past 12 months) a personal or professional relationship.  
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• A matter involving a person whom the employee is aware has (or has had in
the past 12 months), a personal or professional relationship with the State
Bar or any other State bar employee, committee- or commission-member.25

• The employee holds (or has held in the past 12 months) a financial interest
that could be affected by the resolution of the matter.

• The employee is aware that any other Bar employee holds, or within the last
12 months held, a financial interest that could be affected by the resolution
of the matter.

• The matter could create the appearance that OCTC may not exercise its
discretionary functions in an evenhanded manner or apply fair treatment.

Moreover, the new policies now go further in defining certain key terms (i.e., 
what constitutes a “professional relationship”) and provide helpful examples of 
scenarios that would present a conflict.  For example, an individual would be 
deemed to have a “professional relationship” with a person if both the individual 
and the person share the same employer. 

The rules regarding the acceptance of gifts have also been significantly widened. 
Prior to 2022, gifts from persons or organizations seeking to do business with the 
State Bar or whose activities are regulated or controlled by the State Bar were 
prohibited only where it could be ascertained that the gift was intended to influence 
the employee in their official duties.  Now, no OCTC employee can receive any gift 
from any person or organization doing or seeking to do any business with the State 
Bar or whose activities are regulated or controlled by the State Bar.  No OCTC 
attorney or investigator is allowed to accept any gift from any licensed California 
attorney unless there is a pre-existing personal or professional relationship between 
them that would have required the imposition of an ethical screen, regardless of the 
gift.  Acceptance of any such gift will require that licensed California attorney to be 
listed on the OCTC employee’s conflicts form. 

25 An exception exists where the employee has reported the potential conflict to their 
supervisor and a determination is made that either no conflict exists or that the employee 
with the conflict has been screened from the matter.  Policy Directive 2022-05; see also 
Policy Directive 2016-01, Ethical Screening. 
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There have also been additional clarifications about permissible outside 
employment and business or volunteer relationships by OCTC attorneys.  OCTC 
attorneys are generally not permitted to engage in the outside practice of law, with 
two limited exceptions: (1) providing non-criminal legal services to certain family 
members (assuming no interference with OCTC duties); and (2) assisting a pro bono 
legal services program with non-criminal pro bono legal services.  Any OCTC 
attorney working with a legal services program is required to list each attorney 
employed by the established program—not just the attorneys on the matter in which 
they are assisting—on their conflicts form. 

Form 700 

In California, a public employee who “makes or influences governmental 
decisions” is required to complete and sign a Form 700 (Statement of Economic 
Interest).  According to the California Fair Political Practices Commission, the Form 
700 “provides necessary information to the public about an official’s personal 
financial interests to ensure that officials are making decisions in the best interest of 
the public and not enhancing their personal finances.”  The form further “serves as 
a reminder to the public official of potential conflicts of interest so the official can 
abstain from making or participating in governmental decisions that are deemed 
conflicts of interest.”  The Forms 700 are required to be signed under penalty of 
perjury.  

Prosecutorial Ethics 

In addition to Rule 2201, internal procedures, and California’s Rules of 
Professional Conduct that apply to all lawyers, government attorneys have 
additional conflict-of-interest rules and ethical obligations they must abide by. 
Prosecutors—government attorneys charged with enforcing the law against others 
on behalf of the public—are subject to even greater ethical considerations regarding 
conflicts-of-interest that require them to avoid even the appearance of 
impropriety.  The existence of the appearance of impropriety is related to but 
separate from the existence of an actual conflict-of-interest, and the appearance of 
impropriety alone may render a government attorney’s involvement in a case 
inappropriate even where there is no actual conflict-of-interest under the applicable 
rules.  This is because the additional ethical considerations governing government 
attorneys’ conflicts-of-interest are intended not only to provide for fairness in the 
actual administration of justice, but to protect and facilitate the public’s confidence 
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in the administration of justice and in the government’s ability to prosecute cases 
fairly and objectively. This concept is embodied in case law, ethics opinions, and 
industry ethical standards.  

 
California common law prohibits conflicts-of-interest in government actors that 

go beyond actual conflicts to relationships that create the appearance of 
impropriety.  Under the common law, “[a] public officer is impliedly bound to 
exercise the powers conferred on him with disinterested skill, zeal, and diligence 
and primarily for the benefit of the public …. Actual injury is not the principle the 
law proceeds on. Fidelity in the agent is what is aimed at, and as a means of securing 
it the law will not permit him to place himself in a position in which he may be 
tempted by his own private interests to disregard those of his principal. This doctrine 
is generally applicable to private agents and trustees, but to public officers it applies 
with greater force, and sound policy requires that there be no relaxation of its 
stringency in any case that comes within its reason ….”  Clark v. City of Hermosa 
Beach, 48 Cal. App. 4th 1152, 1170–71 (1996) (quoting Noble v. City of Palo Alto, 
89 Cal. App. 47, 51 (1928)).  

 
Numerous decisions, including the State Bar’s own ethics opinions, confirm that 

with respect to government attorneys, the appearance of impropriety in the handling 
of their duties can in and of itself be unethical and must be avoided.  See, e.g., State 
Bar Opinion 1981-63; California Attorney General’s Office Opinion No. 07-807; 
see also California Attorney General’s Office, Conflicts of Interest, available at 
https://oag.ca.gov/sites/all/files/agweb/pdfs/publications/coi.pdf.  As discussed 
above, in recognition of the importance of avoiding the appearance of impropriety, 
the State Bar in 2022 implemented new policies that focus on the appearance of 
impropriety and restrict things like State Bar employees accepting outside 
employment or receiving gifts and other things of value from California attorneys.  

 
Prosecutorial ethical standards can also be found in published guidance 

documents such as those from the American Bar Association and the United States 
Department of Justice.    

 
The American Bar Association’s Criminal Justice Standards for the Prosecution 

Function (Fourth Edition, 2017) provides model guidance that seeks to address these 
concerns.  Standard 3-1.7, Conflicts of Interest, provides several applicable model 
rules.  Subsection (a), for instance, requires that the “prosecutor [] know and abide 
by the ethical rules regarding conflicts of interest that apply in the jurisdiction, and 
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be sensitive to facts that may raise conflict issues.”  Id.  Subsection (f) provides that 
“[t]he prosecutor should not permit the prosecutor’s professional judgment or 
obligations to be affected by the prosecutor’s personal, political, financial, 
professional, business, property, or other interests or relationships. A prosecutor 
should not allow interests in personal advancement or aggrandizement to affect 
judgments regarding what is in the best interests of justice in any case.”  Id.  Finally, 
subsection (g) provides that “[t]he prosecutor should disclose to appropriate 
supervisory personnel any facts or interests that could reasonably be viewed as 
raising a potential conflict of interest.”  Id. 

Applying these and related principles, the U.S. Department of Justice prohibits 
its employees not just “from participating in any matter in which he has a financial 
interest” but also “from participating in a criminal investigation or prosecution if he 
has a personal or political relationship with any person or organization substantially 
involved in the conduct that is the subject of the investigation or prosecution, or any 
person or organization which he knows has a specific and substantial interest that 
would be directly affected by the outcome of the investigation or prosecution.”  U.S. 
Department of Justice, Departmental Ethics Office, Conflicts, available at 
https://www.justice.gov/jmd/conflicts; see also San Francisco District Attorney’s 
Office, Policy Directive – Conflicts of Interest, available at 
https://sfdistrictattorney.org/wp-content/uploads/2020/11/Conflicts-of-
Interest.pdf.    

California’s Rules of Professional Conduct, Rule 1.7, establishes conflicts rules 
for all California lawyers including prosecutors.  Subsection (b) of that Rule states 
that “[a] lawyer shall not, without informed written consent from each affected 
client and compliance with paragraph (d), represent a client if there is a significant 
risk the lawyer’s representation of the client will be materially limited by the 
lawyer’s responsibilities to or relationships with another client, a former client or a 
third person, or by the lawyer’s own interests.”  Id.; see also Rule 1.11, Special 
Conflicts of Interest for Former and Current Government Officials and Employees.  
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INTRODUCTION 

 
Halpern May Ybarra Gelberg LLP (“Halpern May”) was retained by the Board 

of Trustees (the “Board”) of the State Bar of California (the “State Bar” or the 
“Bar”) to conduct an independent, attorney-client privileged and confidential 
investigation into whether the State Bar’s handling of past discipline complaints 
against Thomas V. Girardi (“Girardi”) was affected by Girardi’s connections to or 
influence at the State Bar and to identify actions by anyone with ties to the State Bar 
that may constitute malfeasance in how discipline complaints against Girardi were 
handled.  We delivered the Report of Investigation to the State Bar on February 4, 
2023.  We now submit this addendum to our Report of Investigation, through which 
we correct typographical and other errors in our original Report of Investigation and 
add additional information regarding certain State Bar policies.  None of the changes 
or additions contained herein affect the substantive findings of our investigation or 
the conclusions that we reached based on factual findings.    
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TYPOGRAPHICAL AND OTHER CORRECTIONS 
 

Halpern May identifies the following errors, typographical or otherwise, in the 
Report of Investigation, and the corrections to those errors: 

 
• Page 5: the sentence stating, “We discovered that Hawley had been 

ghostwriting case analysis memorandums for conflict cases and passing 
them off as the work product of the independent conflict counsel, including 
on a Girardi case” is amended to state, “We discovered that Hawley had 
been ghostwriting case analysis memoranda for conflict cases and passing 
them off as the work product of the independent conflict counsel, including 
on a Girardi case.” 

 
• Page 24: the sentence stating, “Due to Girard’s mental state and assertion 

of his Fifth Amendment rights . . . .” is amended to state, “Due to Girardi’s 
mental state and assertion of his Fifth Amendment rights . . . .” 

 
• Page 36: the sentence stating, “It is unclear what, if any, influence Girardi 

was able to exert on State Bar cases against him through the relationships 
he built by participating the selection process for State Bar Board 
members, but one former OCTC investigator informed us that a Board 
member may have intervened in a case against Girardi in the 1990s” is 
amended to state, “It is unclear what, if any, influence Girardi was able to 
exert on State Bar cases against him through the relationships he built by 
participating in the selection process for State Bar Board members, but one 
former OCTC investigator informed us that a Board member may have 
intervened in a case against Girardi in the 1990s.” 

 
• Page 35 and Appendix A (page 83) state that attorney members of the State 

Bar’s Board of Trustees were elected until 2018, after which time they were 
appointed.  These assertions are amended to state that the State Bar’s Board 
of Trustees transitioned from an elected board to an appointed board over a 
period of time.  Pursuant to SB 36, which was signed into law in 2017, all 
board members are appointed (though some members had been appointed, 
rather than elected, prior to SB 36 going into full effect). 
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ADDITIONAL INFORMATION REGARDING STATE BAR 
CONFLICTS-OF-INTEREST POLICIES APPLICABLE OUTSIDE 

THE OFFICE OF CHIEF TRIAL COUNSEL 
  

In Appendix B to our report, we detailed information regarding the State Bar’s 
conflicts-of-interest policies and how those policies have changed over time, 
focusing on those policies that would have applied to employees in the Office of 
Chief Trial Counsel (“OCTC”), who were responsible for the handling of Girardi 
cases.  Below, we provide additional information regarding conflicts-of-interest 
policies that apply to State Bar employees, officers, and affiliates outside OCTC.  
As with the information provided in our Report of Investigation, the information 
below is intended to provide background and to underscore the significance of the 
recent rule changes implemented by the State Bar.  It is not intended to explain all 
of the nuances in all of the State Bar’s conflicts policies and practices. 

 
In 2021, the State Bar put into place an Incompatible Activities policy that 

applies to all State Bar employees and clarifies that State Bar employees are subject 
to the requirements of Section 19990 of the Government Code, which provides in 
part that “a state officer or employee shall not engage in any employment, activity, 
or enterprise which is clearly inconsistent, incompatible, in conflict with, or inimical 
to his or her duties as a state officer or employee.”  This policy prohibits, inter alia, 
the misuse of the employee’s State Bar position, outside employment, and the 
receiving of gifts, particularly from lawyers or others with business before the State 
Bar. 

 
Additionally, the State Bar has maintained a Conflict-of-Interest Code that 

applies to all designated employees.  The Code has been revised over the years and 
currently includes decisionmakers from across the State Bar’s offices, including in 
the Executive Director’s Office, the Office of the General Counsel, and the Office 
of Chief Trial Counsel.  The Code mandates that certain disclosures be made, 
including through the regular filing of statements of financial interest.  In 2022, the 
State Bar launched an online portal for the filing of statements of economic interests 
(i.e., the financial disclosures in the Forms 700).  The Code also contains restrictions 
on the acceptance of gifts.  Importantly, the Code contains standards for 
disqualification of a designated employee from participating in certain decision-
making on behalf of the State Bar where the employee has specified connections to 
a person or entity affected by the decision-making.   
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 Board members are subject to Business and Professions Code section 6036, 
which requires board members to disqualify themselves from matters in which they 
have a financial interest or a personal nonfinancial interest.  In addition, they are 
subject to a Conflict-of-Interest Code and are also required to file statements of 
economic interest (i.e., Forms 700). 
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